
Bill Cullen MBA (ISM), BA(Hons) MRTPI
Chief Executive

Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR
Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk

Date: 16 May 2018

To: Members of the Scrutiny Commission

Mr MR Lay (Chairman)
Mrs R Camamile (Vice-Chairman)
Mr KWP Lynch (Vice-Chairman)
Mr DC Bill MBE
Mr SL Bray
Mr WJ Crooks

Mr DW MacDonald
Mr RB Roberts
Mr BE Sutton
Mr R Ward
Mr HG Williams

Copy to all other Members of the Council

(other recipients for information)

Dear Councillor,

There will be a meeting of the SCRUTINY COMMISSION in the De Montfort Suite, Hinckley 
Hub on THURSDAY, 24 MAY 2018 at 6.30 pm and your attendance is required.

The agenda for the meeting is set out overleaf.

Yours sincerely

Rebecca Owen
Democratic Services Officer

Public Document Pack

http://intranet/branding/Printlogo/B%20and%20W%20HBBC%20logo%202017.jpg


Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR
Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMISSION -  24 MAY 2018

A G E N D A

1.  APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

2.  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 28 March 2018.

3.  ADDITIONAL URGENT BUSINESS BY REASON OF SPECIAL  CIRCUMSTANCES 

To be advised of any additional items of business which the Chairman decides by reason 
of special circumstances shall be taken as matters of urgency at this meeting.

4.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive verbally from members any disclosures which they are required to make in 
accordance with the Council's code of conduct or in pursuance of Section 106 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992.  This is in addition to the need for such disclosure to 
be also given when the relevant matter is reached on the agenda.

5.  QUESTIONS 

To hear any questions in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 12.

6.  VOLUNTARY AND COMMUNITY SECTOR COMMISSIONING OUTCOMES 2016/17 
(Pages 7 - 34)

To update members on outcomes arising from the 2016/17 round of voluntary & 
community sector commissioning.

7.  RURAL STRATEGY - ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 35 - 46)

To provide an overview of service delivery in our rural communities, against the agreed 
priorities in our Rural Strategy.

8.  INTRODUCTION OF A LOCAL AUTHORITY LOTTERY (Pages 47 - 62)

To seek support for the establishment and management of a local authority lottery.

9.  ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE RURAL COMMUNITY COUNCIL SLA TO SUPPORT 
NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING (Pages 63 - 86)

To inform members of the outcome of the annual review and advise of any changes 
required to the terms of the service level agreement and service specification.

10.  DIRECTIONS FOR GROWTH LOCAL PLAN REVIEW - SCOPE, ISSUES AND OPTIONS 
CONSULTATION REPRESENTATIONS AND NEXT STEPS (Pages 87 - 98)

To provide an update on the local plan review.

11.  ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME FOR 2018/19 (Pages 99 - 106)

To outline the Environmental Improvement Programme for 2018/19.

12.  PARISH AND COMMUNITY INITIATIVE FUND (Pages 107 - 120)

To seek endorsement of proposed allocations. 

13.  PROCUREMENT OF COUNCIL FLEET (Pages 121 - 130)

To provide an update on the procurement of the council’s fleet following the report to 



Hinckley Hub • Rugby Road • Hinckley • Leicestershire • LE10 0FR
Telephone 01455 238141 • MDX No 716429 • Fax 01455 251172 • www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk

Council in July 2017.

14.  ANNUAL REPORT OF ACHIEVEMENTS AGAINST THE CORPORATE PLAN 2017-2021 
(Pages 131 - 140)

To seek approval of the annual report summarising the main achievements for 2017/18 
against the Corporate Plan 2017-2021.

15.  SCRUTINY COMMISSION WORK PROGRAMME 2016-18 (Pages 141 - 146)

Work programme attached.

16.  ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES HAVE TO BE 
DEALT WITH AS MATTERS OF URGENCY 

As announced under item 3.



This page is intentionally left blank



-140 -

HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMISSION

28 MARCH 2018 AT 6.30 PM

PRESENT: Mr MR Lay - Chairman
Mrs R Camamile and Mr KWP Lynch – Vice-Chairman

Mr DC Bill MBE, Mr SL Bray, Mr WJ Crooks, Mr RB Roberts, Mr BE Sutton, Mr R Ward 
and Mr HG Williams

Also in attendance: Councillor MB Cartwright and Councillor Ms BM Witherford

Officers in attendance: Valerie Bunting, Bill Cullen, Gemma Dennis, Simon D Jones, 
Rebecca Owen, Rob Parkinson, Caroline Roffey, Madeline Shellard, Sharon Stacey, 
Judith Sturley and Mark Tuff

401 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTIONS 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor MacDonald.

402 MINUTES 

It was moved by Councillor Camamile, seconded by Councillor Roberts and

RESOLVED – the minutes of the meeting be held on 1 February be 
confirmed and signed by the chairman.

403 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Councillors Bray and Lynch declared a personal interest in item 15 (Developing 
Communities Fund – Burbage Parish Council) as members of Burbage Parish Council.

404 SCRUTINY REVIEW: MARTINSHAW LANE - REVIEW OF HOUSING PROJECT 

Following Council’s agreement for a scrutiny review to take place, members received a 
high level scoping report which recommended establishment of a task and finish group to 
look into concerns raised by residents about the Martinshaw Lane development in 
Groby.

A member requested that in addition to the terms of reference in the report, the task & 
finish group should also consider the project management of the contractor and the 
council’s monitoring of the contract in terms of performance and delivery.

During discussion, the following points were raised:

 The need for two meetings – the first in Groby to which the affected residents 
would be invited and the second at the Hub, to which officers would be invited

 “Affected residents” would include those adjacent to or backing onto the site
 The suggested split of the group being 3:2:1 with Cllr Lay chairing the task & 

finish group
 The outcomes from the task & finish group would be brought back to the Scrutiny 

Commission
 The need for a site visit for the task & finish group.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



-141 -

It was agreed that nominations for the task & finish group should be provided to the 
Democratic Services Officer by 6 April.

RESOLVED – a task & finish group be established.

405 SCRUTINY REVIEW: KLONDYKE 

The Scrutiny Commission gave consideration to a report which recommended the setting 
up of a task and finish group to consider actions in relation to the Klondyke site, 
Newtown Linford Lane, Groby.

During discussion, the following points were raised:

 The need for a site visit for task & finish group members
 The intention to hold a minimum of two meetings – the first for invited residents 

and representatives of the parish council to be held in Groby
 The right of the task & finish group to view records
 The need for officer support for the task & finish group
 The importance of ensuring witnesses were able to attend.

It was agreed that nominations for membership of the task & finish group would be 
sought from each group following the meeting.

RESOLVED – a task & finish group be established.

Councillor Cartwright left the meeting at 7.12pm.

406 TENANCY MANAGEMENT - UNTIDY GARDENS 

In response to a request of the Scrutiny Commission, members were presented with a 
report on tackling untidy gardens. Members were informed that the council had powers 
to deal with not only council tenants with untidy gardens, but also private tenants or 
owners using enforcement powers available. It was also noted that the council worked 
closely with other agencies to provide support to those who were unable to look after 
their gardens.

In response to a member’s question, it was stated that there were around 30 complaints 
a year about gardens of council properties, and around 600 a year made to the 
environmental health team which covered anything from refuse bags left in the garden to 
overgrown gardens. Officers agreed to provide members with the figures for planning 
enforcement cases and the number of cases pursued by the tenancy management and 
environmental health teams in response to the complaints made.

Members acknowledged that it was easier to deal with untidy gardens of council 
properties but felt that the situation with non-council properties had improved in terms of 
the number of cases resolved, and officers were thanked for their hard work.

A briefing note to inform members of who to contact depending on the situation and the 
powers available to officers was requested. It was requested that a briefing note also be 
sent to parish councils.

RESOLVED – a briefing note about untidy gardens be prepared for 
members and parish councils.

407 UNIVERSAL CREDIT 

Page 2



-142 -

Members received a report on universal credit full service roll out. It was explained that 
this combined six benefits into one and had been effective from March 2017 for those 
linked to Hinckley’s job centre. It was noted that there had been problems initially with 
delays when customers were changing over to universal credit but, in response to 
criticism, the DWP had removed the waiting period and made the helpline free of charge 
to call. It was acknowledged that there was a close working relationship between the 
council and Job Centre Plus in the Hub which helped to resolve issues more quickly.

Concern was expressed in relation to the increasing level of debt from tenants. In 
response it was noted that this was partly a result of universal credit being paid to the 
tenant for them to then pay their bills, whereas previously housing benefit was paid 
directly to the landlord, but also because of the benefit cap and courts being more 
reluctant to grant possession orders so tenants could remain in council properties but 
continue to fail to pay rent.

In response to further questions, the following points were made:

 Assistance in making claims was provided for customers who did not have 
internet access

 The term ‘preparing for work’ (paragraph 4.1 of the report) referred to those who 
were actively applying for jobs and attending interviews

 The funding for the citizens advice service to support applicants was sufficient 
and had not needed to be supplemented by the authority

 In some cases, direct payments to the landlord could be requested and to date all 
requested had been granted.

Members expressed concern about the move away from direct rent payments and it was 
felt that the situation, including rising debt, may be the same throughout the country. It 
was moved by Councillor Bill and seconded by Councillor Lay that the Scrutiny 
Commission writes to the MP to ask him to take the matter up and that the Leader of the 
Council should be requested to raise the matter with the District Councils Network.

Concern was also expressed about the lack of ability to share data with Job Centre Plus, 
which would enable staff to address non payment of rent with the tenant at their 
individual meetings. It was requested that this be included in the letter to the MP and 
raised at the District Councils Network.

It was requested that a further report be brought to the Commission in six months, 
focussing on the relevant data, and that a representative of the DWP be asked to attend.

RESOLVED – 

(i) The chairman of the Scrutiny Commission writes to the MP for 
Bosworth to express concern about the move away from direct 
payments of rent to the landlord and the restriction on information 
sharing between the local authority and Job Centre Plus and to 
ask him to raise these matters;

(ii) The Leader of Council be requested to raise the issues mentioned 
in (i) above with the District Councils Network;

(iii) A statistical report be brought to the Scrutiny Commission in six 
months and a representative of the DWP be invited to the meeting.

408 PREVENTION STRATEGY 

Page 3



-143 -

Members received the Prevention Strategy which detailed the prevention work 
undertaken across the council. Members congratulated officers on the work undertaken.

RESOLVED – the Prevention Strategy be endorsed.

409 AFFORDABLE HOUSING DELIVERY UPDATE 

The Scrutiny Commission received an annual update in relation to the delivery of 
affordable housing in the borough. It was reported that a more robust approach on 
viability assessments had been adopted, which members welcomed.

Members felt that the council should take on more affordable housing from developers 
and should have its own house building programme. In response it was stated that some 
affordable housing had been taken on but that the authority was constrained by the HRA 
and the borrowing cap. The Commission requested that strategies to assist the council in 
acquiring properties or building its own be sought.

In relation to viability assessments, it was reported that three external organisation had 
been appointed as consultees which had improved capacity and meant there were 
specialisms available when necessary.

RESOLVED – 

(i) The report be welcomed and noted;

(ii) Strategies be sought to assist the authority in acquiring affordable 
properties or building its own.

410 ECONOMIC REGENERATION STRATEGY 2016-2020 

Members were provided with an update on work undertaken to fulfil the aims of the 
Economic Regeneration Strategy Action Plan.

A member felt that more should be done to inform parish councils when funding was 
available, for example through the LEADER programme. In response, it was stated that 
parishes were notified when any funding was available but agreed that the information 
distributed recently would be re-sent.

Concern was expressed that infrastructure was needed to support economic growth, 
given the economic success of the area and development in neighbouring areas.

411 SECTION 106 CONTRIBUTIONS UPDATE 

Members were updated on the situation in relation to S106 monies received and spent 
during 2017.

Members were informed of the significant S106 monies which had been secured. In 
respect of education contributions, Members expressed disappointment about the 
content of the October 2017 report to the Cabinet at Leicestershire County Council which 
stated that the Borough Council had reduced contributions for education in favour of 
affordable housing, yet failed to mention this was only on a few schemes in favour of 
100% affordable housing and that there had been several occasions where the authority 
had foregone affordable housing in favour of contributions to education. It was further 
noted that, when asked for comparative information about other districts, the County 
Council was unable to provide this. The Scrutiny Commission was extremely concerned 
about this lack of information available, particularly in light of the statements made in the 
Cabinet report. It was requested that the Chairman of the Scrutiny Commission writes to 

Page 4



-144 -

the Cabinet member to ask where the education contributions collected by the council 
had been spent.

It was acknowledged that the report to the Scrutiny Commission contained correct data 
about the significant education contributions collected by the council for the County 
Council, amounting to £7,432,424.14 over the last five years. A member commended 
this and requested that the report be sent to the parish councils to clarify this, as he had 
been subject to criticism from them following the County Council’s Cabinet report.

Concern was expressed that, when contributions to health, education and the police 
were collected, there was no feedback to show where, or even if, the money had been 
used. Members referred to the legal requirement to use the money in that particular area 
and wished to do further work in the future to encourage the recipients of the money to 
audit the use and report back.

RESOLVED – 

(i) A briefing note be sent to parish councils to confirm the level of 
contributions to education collected by this authority;

(ii) A letter be sent on behalf of the Scrutiny Commission to the 
Cabinet member for education at Leicestershire County Council 
requesting a breakdown of where the contributions collected had 
been spent.

412 CAR PARKS ACTION PLAN (HINCKLEY TOWN CENTRE) 

The Scrutiny Commission was advised of the car parks action plan for the Hinckley area.

Whilst members supported the move towards card payments, some were not supportive 
of the increase in charges, particularly residents’ permits. Councillor Bray requested that 
his objection to the charges and his disappointment that the report continued to refer to 
ward councillors being invited to discuss the changes, whereas only a token effort was 
made.

Members were reminded that the consultation was still open and they were still able to 
input into it.

RESOLVED – the report be noted.

413 DEVELOPING COMMUNITIES FUND - BURBAGE PARISH COUNCIL 

A report was presented which recommended that the Scrutiny Commission endorsed the 
allocation of funding from the Developing Communities Fund to Burbage Parish 
Council’s project.

RESOLVED – the allocation of funding be endorsed.

414 LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICTS ICT PARTNERSHIP DIGITAL STRATEGY 

Members were informed of the work being done by the Leicestershire ICT Partnership 
and the vision set out in the Digital Strategy for the partnership. A member expressed 
concern that ICT equipment for public use in the community houses had become dated 
and asked that renewal be explored.

RESOLVED – the Digital Strategy be endorsed.

Page 5



-145 -

415 SCRUTINY COMMISSION WORK PROGRAMME 2016-18 

Consideration was given to the work programme. It was requested that an update on 
Hinckley Hospital be sought for a future meeting. A member suggested that 
consideration be given to having shorter agendas to allow for fuller consideration of all 
agenda items.

416 MINUTES OF FINANCE & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY 

The minutes of Finance & Performance Scrutiny on 29 January were received and 
noted.

(The Meeting closed at 9.29 pm)

CHAIRMAN

Page 6



06/16

FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

Scrutiny Commission 24 May 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: All Wards 

VOLUNTARY & COMMUNITY SECTOR COMMISSIONING OUTCOMES 2016/17

Report of Director Community Services

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1.1 To update members on outcomes arising from the 2016/17 round of Voluntary & 
Community Sector (VCS) Commissioning, via a presentation from commissioned 
VCS providers and beneficiaries.

1.1.2. Please note this report relates to the outcomes of the commissioning round October 
2016 to October 2017.  The outcomes of the commissioning round October 2017 to 
October 2018, will be reported in 2019.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 To note the positive impact in improving the quality of life for communities, resulting 
from the ongoing direct commissioning of front line services via our local VCS 
commissioning arrangements.

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

3.1 Historically Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council has supported a number of VCS 
organisations, through grant funding and ‘in kind’ arrangements.  However, in the 
context of ever reducing public sector budgets and subsequently grant funding, 
during 2012, the authority recognised the need to find a more sustainable approach 
to VCS support, development and delivery within the Borough, in order to meet the 
needs of our diverse and most vulnerable members of our community.

3.1.1. Therefore, from April 2013, HBBC commissioned one of our leading VCS 
organisations, Next Generation, to lead on the development of new VCS 
arrangements for our locality, with the aim of sustaining our front line VCS service 
delivery organisations, through the establishment of arrangements to enable locality 
based commissioning of the VCS.

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



06/16

3.1.2. The established arrangements we now have in place for Hinckley & Bosworth, which 
are unique to Leicestershire, include:

 An overarching VCS Development Forum, comprising 40 VCS (both large and 
small) organisations, enabling learning and development, collaboration, 
communication, and a key mechanism for listening to and capturing the voice of the 
local people of the Borough.  The Forum meets on a regular basis, to help inform 
overall developments for our local arrangements, for focused development sessions 
on topical issues, and importantly as a vehicle to enable networking and 
collaboration.
 

 A VCS database and Directory detailing the type of provision and geographical 
location of VCS organisations across the Borough – comprising approximately 1,200 
entries.  This provides the key access route for the Borough Council and other key 
partners, for communicating, engaging and consulting with the VCS.   

 A VCS Commissioning Board, made up of VCS representatives, (and two HBBC 
Executive Members – Cllr M Hall and Cllr M Cook) which provides a robust, fair and 
accessible mechanism through which the local authority and other sectors can 
commission the VCS

 Successful establishment of VCS collaboration through the development Forum, in 
submitting joint commissioning bids, and subsequent joint delivery, and joint working 
on other areas of delivery, which has in turn enabled sustainability 

 Effective representation of the interests and offer of the VCS at key delivery 
partnerships within the Borough, including: The Local Strategic Partnership, Think 
Family Partnership, and the Health & Wellbeing Partnership, and others as and when 
required.  This has enabled a greater understanding of the opportunities for both 
commissioning, and improved joint working between the statutory and voluntary & 
community sector.

3.1.3. It is important to note that the ongoing development of our local VCS arrangements, 
has been enabled through the commitment of our VCS, who continue to give 
considerable time to test and continually develop this model of working, at a time 
when their resources and capacity are particularly stretched. 

3.1.4. To date, five rounds of VCS commissioning have been undertaken, (including 
2017/18 commissioning which took place in October 2017), enabled by ongoing ring 
fencing of HBBC funds on an annual basis, which has seen an increase from 
£20,000 in 2013/14, rising to £70,000 in 2016/17, and for subsequent years.  The 
total funds committed through these arrangements since 2013 is £195,474.

3.2. VCS Commissioning 2016/17

3.2.2. Reflecting on four rounds of VCS commissioning, evidence indicates that the VCS 
are well placed to support the Borough’s health and wellbeing priorities, providing 
cost effective practical frontline provision, which complements statutory provision.  
Furthermore, the VCS are often closest to the community, and based on this insight, 
have the flexibility to tailor their delivery approaches to meet customer needs, in a 
timely way, not always afforded by the statutory sector, and specifically in relation to:

- Reducing the impact of social isolation and loneliness, and
- Helping maintain good mental health and wellbeing within our 

communities

Page 8



06/16

Therefore the focus for commissioning during 2016/17 reflected these two themes.

3.2.1 We have also concluded that whilst we want to encourage new, and both larger and 
smaller VCS organisations to benefit from commissioning funds, it is important that 
we continue to support our more established VCS projects/models, to enable them to 
become self sustaining longer term.  Examples of these projects include: The 
Burbage Youth Project, The Mayflower Project, Hinckley Pathways Journey Well with 
Dementia Project, and Hinckley & Bosworth Community Transport.  

3.2.2 Therefore, the work commissioned during 2016/17 reflects a mix of both new and 
established projects: 
Appendix 1 provides a summary of the projects commissioned in 2016/17, key 
outcomes delivered, and numbers of direct beneficiaries

3.2.3. However, increasingly we have identified that case study information better reflects 
the impact on individuals and our communities.  Therefore Appendix 2 has sought to 
capture a range of case studies/feedback from beneficiaries of projects 
commissioned in 2016/17.

3.2.4. To demonstrate this further a number of VCS organisations, together with 
beneficiaries have been invited to present to the Scrutiny Commission meeting on 
24th May, in order that members can hear first hand, about how this provision is 
positively impacting on the quality of life for our communities.

Responding to Community Safety priorities

3.2.5. In addition to the above, during 2016/17, £25,000 of the additional £50,000 (agreed 
by Executive Members during this time period, increasing the VCS commissioning 
funds from £20,000 to £70,000 p.a.), was ring fenced to support Community Safety 
priorities, and specifically work to support vulnerable perpetrators and victims of anti 
social behaviour (ASB), offering early intervention and prevention support, with the 
aim of proactively seeking to address some of the underlying causes. 

3.2.6 In responding to the above, we subsequently embarked on a Community Safety 
Partnership/VCS pilot piece of work – further details of this pilot project are detailed 
at Appendix 3 

Ongoing development of our local VCS arrangements

3.3.1. The local authority working in partnership with Next Generation as our lead VCS 
organisation, are committed to continually improving the offer for our VCS.  Therefore 
2017/18 will see the introduction of a new HBBC/VCS partnership website, with new 
branding, hosted by Next Generation, providing an on line platform to profile all of the 
work delivered by the partnership including the VCS Development Forum, the 
Commissioning opportunities, and related work such as the Annual Making a 
Difference Awards.

3.2.6. In addition we will be introducing a Volunteering Hub, offering a one point of contact 
service for anyone wanting to volunteer within the Borough, and for VCS 
organisations seeking to recruit volunteers.  This service will be available on line 
(hosted on the new partnership website), as well as a face to face service based at 
Next Generation. This is in response to feedback from our VCS, that fundamentally 
their sustainability is reliant on retaining a good volunteer base.

Page 9



06/16

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 The report is to be taken in open session. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (DW)

5.1 The amount spent on VCS commissioning during the period 2013-14 to 2017-18 was 
£195,474 compared to a budget of £200,000 as detailed in the table below:-

Year Budget Actual Spend
£ £

2013-14 20,000 20,000
2014-15 20,000 20,000
2015-16 20,000 20,000
2016-17 70,000 70,000
2017-18 70,000 65,474
Total 200,000 195,474

5.2 In 2018/19 the commissioning budget is £70,000.

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS (MR)

6.1 None 

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The contents of the report relate to and support the People, Place and Prosperity 
corporate priorities, and will specifically support the delivery of the following ambition: 
‘Support an effective and viable voluntary and community sector.’

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 This report has taken account of the ongoing consultation undertaken by Next 
Generation through the established VCS Development Forum, Commissioning 
Board, and database.

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks
Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner
Lack of sustainability of key VCS Sustainability of the H&B Edwina 

Page 10



06/16

organisations within Hinckley and 
Bosworth, resulting in no VCS 
infrastructure arrangements within the 
locality, and significant reduction in 
frontline delivery of essential provision

VCS locality arrangements Grant

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The utilisation of up to date evidence sources and data, informed via the VCS 
Development Forum, and VCS database, has helped to inform the ongoing 
development of our VCS arrangements, and approaches to the sustainability. These 
mechanisms also ensure resources are aligned with Borough priorities, and gives 
VCS organisations from all areas of the Borough, including rural areas, access to the 
VCS commissioning arrangements.

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers: None
Contact Officer: Edwina Grant, Ext 5629
Executive Member: Cllr M Hall

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

VCS Commissioning outcomes 2016/17 - Evaluation Report 

Commissioned Work 
and Costs

Funding 
allocated

Key outputs/outcomes No. of 
hours of 
direct 
delivery

No. of 
beneficiaries

No. of 
volunteers 
supporting 
delivery

No. of 
paid 
workers

Markfield Mayflower 
Project - (Markfield 
Community Association) 

To build on the success 
of the existing Mayflower 
Club - Provision of co-
ordinated support for 
vulnerable people over 
the age of 50 and their 
carers, to enable 
improved health, 
happiness and wellbeing.

By extending 
membership to people of 
all ages and abilities, the 
housebound and those 
experiencing loneliness 
and social isolation

£3,000.00
Successful development and 
delivery of the Monday afternoon 
Friendship Club, which attracts an 
average of 17 members for each 
session

The main weekly Wednesday 
afternoon club has also seen an 
increase in members, and 
significantly increased male 
membership, with 7 men 
attending on a regular basis

The project facilities enhanced 
support to members, enabling 
referrals (with consent) to be 
made to a range of agencies 
including Age UK, Adult Social 
Care, Housing Services, Pride 
Alarms, and Fire & Rescue.  

250 On average 
52 every 

week

5 1

P
age 13



Continuing to provide a 
coordinated rural 
information and support 
service as well as social 
activities through the 
Mayflower club sessions

Provide an additional 
Monday afternoon social 
event

Regular awareness raising 
sessions are also delivered on a 
broad range of topics e.g.  falls 
prevention, healthy cooking, scam 
awareness, etc.

Development of confidence and 
friendships has resulted in 
members taking part in leisure 
and wellbeing activities outside of 
the project e.g. tai chi, adult keep 
fit, mature movers and even 
walking football

Responded to a need/gap in 
provision identified by members, 
resulting in the establishment of a 
new pilot Mayflower Good Times 
Together (Dementia support) 
Club, for people suffering from 
dementia or its onset and those 
who care for them

Delivery of a Members 
Satisfaction Survey, whilst 
showing 100%  support for the 
project, has identified areas for 
improvement and a ‘wish list’ of 

P
age 14



future activities 

Hinckley Helpers 
To expand the current 
service and provision 
offered to people 
experiencing financial 
difficulties – overseeing 
sourcing, storage and 
distribution of donations.
Recruitment, 
management and 
support for volunteers, 
enabling volunteers to 
gain experience, 
confidence and skills

£550.00
To help vulnerable people in 
HBBC through difficult times with 
their wellbeing needs, increase 
their quality of life and help with 
their self-worth and confidence.

11 0

Hinckley Baptist 
Pathways – Journey 
Well with Dementia

To extend the social 
group for people living 
with dementia, offering 
stimulating reminiscence 
activities focusing on 
individual abilities

Provision of person 

£2,562.75

The establishment of a second 
dementia support group, has 
resulted in being able to 
accommodate and offer this 
provision to all those on the 
waiting list.  

This has had a very significant 
positive impact on their emotional 
health & wellbeing of both those 
suffering from dementia and their 
carers  – this is clearly evidenced 

56 19 1 2

P
age 15



centred care, minimising 
social isolation, 
encouraging wellbeing 
and self worth.

Respite provision for 
carers and families

in the case study/anecdotal 
evidence at Appendix 2 

Emmaus Leicestershire 
and Rutland

To support homeless 
adults to overcome 
homelessness, social 
isolation, low self-esteem 
and loneliness through 
provision of a safe home 
environment, voluntary 
work, acquisition of new 
skills, improved health & 
wellbeing, and healthier 
life style choices, 
dedicated support and 
access to specialist 
agencies in addressing 
drugs and alcohol 
addictions

£5,000.00

Improved confidence, self –
esteem and motivation, enabling 
beneficiaries to make positive 
changes/decisions to improve 
their lives 

Improved physical and mental 
health & wellbeing through 
improved diets, nutrition and 
physical activity. 

A reduction in feelings of social 
isolation and loneliness, through 
living in a community and 
interaction with other beneficiaries 
and staff. 

A reduction in drug and alcohol 
dependency/ addiction.

Beneficiaries moving on to 

235 17 15 1

P
age 16



independent living

Green Towers Hinckley 
Club for Young People 

Delivery of a National 
Climbing Award, with 
recognised educational 
qualifications, aimed at 
financially disadvantaged 
young people.

To build confidence, self-
esteem, support social 
cohesion and improve 
physical and mental 
health & wellbeing

Provision of a recognised 
qualification

£2690.00
Young People within the Borough 
achieving National Climbing 
qualifications.

Numbers participating exceeded 
targets set of young people 
wishing to undertake their NICAS 
qualifications, therefore additional 
NICAS sessions have been 
delivered to support the demand 
in the project.

Improved physical health and 
fitness

Increased confidence, self- 
esteem and self- worth, through 
achievement leading to improved 
mental and emotional wellbeing

144 45 3 3

Burbage Youth Project- 
BYP Classic Car 
Restoration

Delivery of a range of 
activities around car 
maintenance and classic 
car restoration, for young 

£3762.00 Young people have gained 
essential skills of vehicle 
maintenance and restoration

Reduced social 
isolation/exclusion and increased 
self esteem – happier more 
fulfilled outlook on life and life’s 

176 21 6 1

P
age 17



people at risk of social 
isolation/exclusion, 
enabling the young 
person to gain skills and 
knowledge, raise self-
awareness, self-esteem 
and confidence, 
increased opportunity 
with apprenticeship, 
training / employment 
and work experience in a 
safe controlled workshop. 

opportunities

Developed practical and 
interpersonal employability skills 

Established new friendships and 
supported each other’s progress

Led to participants volunteering in 
their community, becoming 
mentors for other young people

Funding has helped to sustain the 
project for future beneficiaries

Time Out – Time out for 
Carers
To enable carers access 
to an environment to 
relax together away from 
their caring 
responsibilities.
Offering a support group 
for carers to freely 
express emotions whilst 
supported by others that 
understand and have a 
shared experience 

£2404.06

All beneficiaries have expressed 
that all aspects of the Time Out 
group has had a very significant 
positive impact on their emotional 
health & wellbeing – this is clearly 
evidenced in the case study/ 
anecdotal evidence at Appendix 2 

.

96 40 15 1

ACCEPT- Allotment 
Project Barwell £3,700.00

Previously isolated individuals 
have an enhanced social life and 
sense of belonging, having 

235 48 10 3

P
age 18



To promote wellbeing, 
confidence and self-
esteem and reduce low 
lying mental health such 
as feelings of stress, 
anxiety and depression.  
To enable new  
friendships, social 
networks,  connect with 
nature and develop skills 
including gardening, 
cooking, growing fruit 
and vegetables and other 
outdoor related activities 
in which individuals are 
interested.  

formed friendships via the 
allotment project, but also by 
meeting socially outside of the 
project 

A greater sense of purpose and 
structure to life, and actively 
seeking out other activities in the 
community to engage with

Developed personal confidence 
through the learning of new skills, 
and overcoming fears, leading to 
higher levels of self esteem and 
reduction in anxiety and 
depression e.g. catching the bus 
to get to the project

Improved decision making and 
problem solving skills leading to 
greater levels of independence 
and reduction in reliance on 
mental health services.

Transfer of skills and habits 
learned leading to a healthier 
more active lifestyle including 
starting their own allotment.

P
age 19



Hinckley & Bosworth 
Community Transport

To develop a website to 
ensure elderly/disabled 
people, their 
carers/friends/relatives 
can more easily access 
information about 
community transport, and 
in turn reduce social 
isolation and improve 
their health and 
wellbeing.
To be utilised to recruit 
more volunteer drivers 

£750.00

Increased the number of enquiries 
for those wishing to volunteer, 
and resulted in increased 
volunteer drivers

Reached a wider audience of 
beneficiaries, by having an on line 
presence and promotion of the 
offer, and subsequent take up of 
provision

n/a n/a 48 1

Burbage Youth Project 
– Youth Counselling 
Service
To reduce the number of 
young people within the 
Borough becoming at 
risk, vulnerable, isolated 
or socially excluded 
through issues effecting 
their emotional/mental 
health and wellbeing, by 
offering a free 
accessible, professional 
counselling service 

£2989.00
Young people remaining in 
education/training or employment 
due to counselling support.

Improved family integration

Reduction of young people at risk 
and more young people staying 
safe.

Improved emotional health and 
wellbeing and in turn physical 
health and wellbeing

220 32 0 1

P
age 20



Increased confidence, self- 
esteem and self- worth.

Local Area Co-
ordination 
(LACS)/Barwell 
Community House – 
Mind over Matter
Provision in this priority 
neighbourhood, to people 
who need extra support 
to access counselling 
and/or support to break 
down barriers, gain self-
worth, and confidence to 
take their lives forward in 
a positive direction.
Provision of a seamless 
support offer to address 
a range of issues that an 
individual may be 
experiencing

£1193.60
Beneficiaries have developed 
coping mechanisms to deal with 
their issues and circumstances. 

Built and supported sustainable 
support networks to reduce social 
isolation. 

Provided space for honest, non – 
judgemental yet safe space for 
people to explore their mental 
health.

Beneficiaries have gained self- 
worth, confidence and self – 
awareness. 

86           27 10 3

P
age 21



The Way of the Horse – 
Project Rehabilitation 
Pony
Aimed at disadvantaged 
young people/adults 
suffering from mental 
health issues, or those 
socially isolated.

To encourage the 
individual to build a bond 
of trust with a 
rescue/abandoned pony, 
in turn allowing the 
vulnerable individual to 
grow in confidence, and 
take the next steps in 
conjunction with the 
recovering animal

£2940.00
Improved emotional wellbeing, 
and self confidence through the 
opportunity to learn, practice and 
develop a range of self 
awareness and personal 
development/life skills. 

A decrease in levels of stress and 
anxiety, leading to improved 
decision making

104 8 6 1

Hinckley Town Tennis 
Club – Inclusive Tennis
To enable the expansion 
of current provision 
offering inclusive tennis 
sessions to those with 
special needs

£1559.00
Extending delivery to a 2 hour 
session over a 10 week period 
has enabled relationships and 
trust to be built more quickly, 
(specifically with children and 
young people) improving the 
learning experience for all 
involved

78 40 5 2

P
age 22



Improved physical fitness and 
wellbeing, and in turn improved 
emotional health and wellbeing

Increased confidence, self- 
esteem and self- worth, through 
the acquisition of a new 
skill/experience

Owing to the success these 
sessions will be repeated in 
Summer 2018 

Leicestershire & 
Rutland Youth Sailing 
Association – inclusive 
sailing
To provide access to 
qualified LRYSA 
instructors and safety 
crew in enabling 
disadvantages and 
disabled people to enjoy 
the sailing experience

To support the ongoing 
training of volunteer 
instructors in ensuring 
sustainability of this offer 

£2830.00
Qualifications achieved:

7 students qualified to level 2 
power boat/safety boat cover.

3 students qualified as keel boat 
instructors – a requirement for 
teaching those with disabilities

7 students qualified in first aid 
advanced water safety

4 students qualified as RYA 
dinghy instructors.

Which has resulted in the LRYSA 
being able to respond to an ever 
increasing demand  to train all 

110 54 12 2P
age 23



sections of the community, 
including: schools, the youth 
racing team, junior courses, adult 
courses, those with learning 
difficulties or disabilities,  through 
our newly qualified volunteers

Community Action 
Hinckley & Bosworth – 
Family Arts and Crafts
To deliver and expand 
access to social and non-
formal learning 
opportunities through up 
to 3 sessions per week of 
volunteer managed 
creative arts and craft 
sessions at Wkyin 
Community House.
Provision of support and 
signposting to other local 
groups and activities

£1200.00
Participants have improved levels 
of confidence, and a sense of 
achievement through learning 
new creative skills.

An increase in the number of 
members of the community 
engaging with community 
activities

An increase in the establishment 
of friendships and support 
networks for community 
members, leading to improved 
emotional wellbeing

Improved confidence of 
community volunteers who have 
supported activities, which has led 
to them initiating other activities 
within the community

264 33 12 0

P
age 24



Community Action 
Hinckley & Bosworth – 
Wykin Neighbourhood 
Events
To support and enable 
volunteers in this priority 
neighbourhood to 
develop and delivery at 
least 4 major community 
events during a 12 month 
period.
Events aimed at 
supporting families and 
individuals who have 
become socially isolated 
to enjoy neighbourhood 
activities as a first non-
threatening step to 
inclusion

£800.00
Enabled volunteers to develop 
confidence, and to take ownership 
in independently developing and  
delivering community activities

Engaged socially isolated 
residents who have developed 
confidence, friendships and 
support networks

Enabled individuals and families 
to gain additional help and 
support, through signposting to 
relevant provision

70 180 12 0

Peggs Close 
Community Group – 
Volunteer Development
Enhancing community 
provision through the 
development of 
community volunteering 
arrangements.
Development and co-
ordination of 

£2232.15
Enabled volunteers to develop 
confidence, skills and friendships

Enabled volunteers to take 
ownership and increased 
responsibility in independently 
developing and  delivering 
community activities, with support 
from Community Development 

282 237 20 3

P
age 25



arrangements enabling 
shared volunteers across 
the 3 community house 
areas: Barwell, Earl 
Shilton and Wykin 
(priority neighbourhoods)
Increasing volunteer 
development whilst 
bringing new provision 
and opportunities to all 3 
areas

workers – building community 
capacity

An increase in the number of 
volunteers

Enhanced the range of provision 
on offer to the community, across 
the 3 community house areas, 
and increased take up

Developed confidence and self 
esteem of beneficiaries, resulting 
in an increased number of 
participants going on to join other 
social activities, outside of the 
project.

P
age 26



Appendix 2

Case Study/Anecdotal Evidence from 2016/17 VCS Commissioning Evaluation.

MARKFIELD MAYFLOWER PROJECT
1) M aged 70. I really enjoy coming along to the sessions with my friends and it has helped me to get information and support in caring for 

my elderly mother who lives on her own. From information I got on Fire Safety in the Home I was given a free Fire Home Assessment 
and feel much safer now.

2) A aged 95. Her daughter who lives in Spain rang us in desperation. A lives on her own and doesn’t see anyone for weeks on end other 
than someone popping in with her shopping. The daughter asked us for help. A is now collected from her home twice a week by 
members to attend both Monday and Wednesday afternoon Mayflower sessions. She tells us that she had not been out of her house 
for over 6 months and felt very lonely and depressed. A said recently “ I really enjoy coming out to the clubs, the members are so kind 
and friendly and they all look after me. I don’t feel so lonely anymore and love getting out of my home and meeting new friends.

3) P aged 90. I really look forward to coming along to both clubs each week where I can enjoy a game of dominoes with my mates. I really 
enjoy the activities Ron and Carol put on and often go home and tell them what we did. My Grandchildren were fascinated that I won 
the conkers championship and grew the second tallest sunflower. All the talks and activities are great and very interesting. The family 
trip to Llandudno was really good as I grew up near there and took my grandchildren along to see the sights. It’s a great project and I 
hope we never lose it.

HINCKLEY BAPTIST CHURCH – Journey Well with Dementia
1) E has been attending this group since June of this year. This not only gives him a good time but gives me a break also. The staff are 

brilliant. (Wife)
2) It’s a God send. Gives P something to talk about and me, his wife, time to myself. (Wife)
3) He enjoys the group. I have a good break to do my own things. (Wife)
4) It benefits me personally as it is the only break I get from caring for my mother 24/7. My mother benefits as she comes to a happy, 

welcoming place where she is cared for, stimulated and is able to be away from me for a while, which she also needs. (Daughter)
5) Happy and cheerful. She likes mixing with people, keeps her mind active (plenty of things to do). Me – Chill out. (Husband)

EMMAUS
1) I owe a massive amount of thanks to Emmaus. They have helped me grow up and learn to deal with life. My problems started after my 

GCSE’s when I smoked marijuana and drank at weekends. This led on to me wanting to have a bigger and better high and I started using 
Class A drugs and even more alcohol. I was living with my Dad and step mum and finally after crashing my brother’s car without a 
license I was asked to leave. I lived with my Mum for a while, working at various jobs but my demons got the better of me and I left my 

P
age 27



Mum’s, ended up living in a couple of hostels and finally got a flat through the council. I moved into my flat and things were going well. 
I was drinking less and only using drugs occasionally. Unfortunately, I started to drink heavily again and using more drugs, my debts 
started to spiral but I was living in this drug induced fantasy land. Finally, the inevitable happened and I received an eviction notice. I 
developed severe depression and lost my job. My Housing Association realised I was in a bad way and referred me to specialist support. 
I found Emmaus and moved into the Hinckley Community. When I arrived it was clear that the drinking and drugs had to stop, with 
their support I was able to do this. Due to my anxiety and depression at the time, I often struggled to get out of bed and leave my 
room. The staff were empathetic and supported me in any way necessary. Sometimes what I needed was reassurance and other days it 
was a kick up the backside. I owe so much to Emmaus Leicestershire and Rutland, the community helped me massively. Emmaus 
helped me through training and as my confidence grew, I visited local schools to chat with troublesome kids to try and steer them away 
from following the path I took. I’ve now got a job in a large supermarket chain as a Store Supervisor. I can honestly say that if it wasn’t 
for the continuing support of Emmaus I would not be where I am today.

2) After the breakdown of my relationship I found myself homeless and I ended up sleeping rough in a park toilet for about 7 months. I 
was cold, lonely and depressed. I heard about Emmaus and was interviewed and offered a place in the Emmaus house. I was very quiet 
to begin with but after leaving in the surroundings I became more confident and joined in with my fellow companions. I helped with 
sorting out the books in the Emmaus Emporium and have now been moved onto using the tills and helping in the van with the 
collections. I am doing an NVQ Level 2 in customer service and have just passed a PAT course, all of which will help me do my job well 
and provide more in-depth information to our customers. I am very proud of what I have achieved since joining the Emmaus family.

GREEN TOWERS CLUB 4 YOUNG PEOPLE
1) K completed her Level 1 and Level 2 NICAS awards. She thoroughly enjoyed the course. The instructors were helpful, friendly and patient 

towards my daughter who has special needs. She continues to rock climb and is gaining in confidence
2) A achieved both her Level 1 and Level 2 NICAS awards. She learned to be confident and the safety aspects of the wall. The training was 

first class, would highly recommend, with lovely staff and volunteers. Amelia has continued to climb at the Tower in Leicester and is 
thinking about doing the NICAS Level 3 there.

3) E improved her confidence and ability and gained her Level 2 NICAS award. She learned various climbing skills, belay and how to rescue a 
climber if stuck. Friendly, supportive and informative instructors. E has really enjoyed the NICAS course and intends to progress her new 
favourite sport.

4) C achieved his Level 1 & 2 awards. He has learned teamwork and independent study and dedication to learning knots and climbing 
techniques. He has also developed a keen awareness of safety. He has achieved confidence in his knowledge and abilities which has been 
carried over into his reading, research and peer relationships. I had concerns at first that C would not be able to grasp what he needed to 

P
age 28



know in order to keep up but was happily proved wrong in this regard due to the outstanding instruction. C is currently doing his Level 3 
at the Tower in Leicester and ideally like to do as a GGSCE.

BURBAGE YOUTH PROJECT - Classic Car Restoration
1) My Grandson has been working with Burbage Youth Project for the last 6 months. He looks forward every week to his Monday sessions 

and has really gained in confidence and is always ready to talk about his experiences at the Project.
2) My Son has been attending the Car Restoration Project for over 3 years. He was extremely shy when he started but has gained in 

confidence. He has recently obtained an apprenticeship in the automobile trade and has been chosen by BYP to be a Youth Mentor. We 
are extremely proud of him and his achievements at BYP.

3) I have recently joined the Restoration Club and really look forward every week to working on the cars. I have learned about the 
different tools and their uses and have been working on stripping, cleaning and rebuilding the chassis and running gear on the Triumph 
Spitfire.

4) I have been a volunteer at BYP for over 5 years. The weekly sessions are normally attended by 6-8 young people who are of different 
ages and differing ability. As a volunteer I feel that my personal life skills can be of great benefit to the intergenerational conversations 
that always take place during the evening sessions.

TIME OUT FOR CARERS
1) As a carer, I find unless one is a carer, one does not know what it is like caring for another person in the way that we do. No matter how 

empathetic a person is or wants to be, one cannot feel nor understand the burden, the frustration, the immense demand on our 
patience etc. It takes a carer to understand another carer. The group offers this and makes the world of difference every day.

2) As the group continues to evolve with new members comes new creative ideas for support. Often group members recommend the 
group to others that they know and bring them along. The group offers a supportive, caring space for carers but also indirectly has a 
positive impact on those that they care for and their families.

3) I attended the art sessions. They gave me a sense of purpose, something for me, and when I look at my art it makes me feel good.
4) It made me happy to do something creative. I often feel isolated as I care for 4 family members and can find myself losing my identity 

as I do much for others and nothing for myself. I also have used the counselling service and find this incredibly helpful as my issues are 
very personal to myself. To have the opportunity to offload my worries and anxieties to someone who will not judge me and everything 
is confidential. Also, knowing that I have somewhere to go each week helps me cope with problems and makes me feel stronger.

ACCEPT Allotment Project, Barwell
1) It has helped me so much in my own development and mental health and has opened up a whole new world. I would like to say a 

huge thank you and I am not sure if you realise the difference your project makes to people’s lives.
2) It feels as if my life has changed from being isolated to having a new family and I never expected so many doors to open through 

P
age 29



being involved.
HINCKLEY AND BOSWORTH COMMUNITY TRANSPORT

1) I have much appreciated the service provided whilst recovering from a hip replacement. I would like to say a big thank you to all the 
drivers who assisted me – they were always very prompt, courteous, helpful and patient as I never knew how I would be at my various 
appointments. Thanks also to the Office Staff as they were very helpful when I telephone to make arrangements. (Burbage Passenger)

2) If I could not use your shopping services I would lose my independence and be unable to do my weekly shop. (Groby Passenger)
3) Thank you to you all for providing me and others with a lifeline. (Barwell Passenger)
4) Many thanks for your help in getting me to see my brother. Sadly he passed away but with your help I was able to spend more time 

with him before he died. (Burbage Passenger)
BURBAGE YOUTH PROJECT – COUNSELLING

1) Owing to the confidentiality of the service provided we are limited in the information we are able to disclose.
2) However, we are able to disclose that in the majority of the young people we have helped the outcome has been that they feel more 

settled and more positive in their health and wellbeing.

BARWELL COMMUNITY HOUSE – MIND OVER MATTER
1) My life and my wellbeing has felt great since I joined in with this group. I’ve been able to come and talk with other people in a 

friendly, relaxed place where everybody helps each other with their problems.
2) I really like coming to the aromatherapy sessions with Shirley and I have learned that there may be some answers to my problems. 

The sessions have got me out of the house and joining in with other people who are in the same position as me.
3) The group has been to an Art Studio in Hinckley where we tried different ways of painting. I found this very relaxing and I’m very 

proud of my picture. I never thought I would be able to paint in such a way. I certainly want to continue with this.
4) I’ve had counselling sessions with the Next Direction counsellor who comes to the Community House which is very near to where I 

live. It would have been very difficult for me attend counselling outside of the village. I feel much better now I have talked to the 
counsellor.

THE WAY OF THE HORSE – PROJECT REHABILITATION PONY
1) The reason for me going to The Way of the Horse is, I lost my son in September 2012. He was 20 years of age and died in a car accident. 

I have not been able to cry or feel any connection with his loss. I have received 2 other types of counselling, which I felt really did not 
benefit me. I have noticed that since I have been going to WOTH, I have been able to cry and feel a reconnection with my feelings. I 
started off with Boundaries. When Dina explained what we were going to do I was a bit apprehensive as this was outside my comfort 
zone. I also did not understand how this would work with a horse. I was a bit sceptical. When I first tried it Harry did not come to me, I 

P
age 30



had to go to him, even though he kept scratching himself on the fence. He followed me but I then lost concentration and he walked off. 
I tried again, I connected with him this time he walked in front of me. Dina explained what I needed to do, so I tried again, this time 
Harry followed me around the menage. I had to take control. The feeling of control was amazing, I could not stop smiling, and it felt so 
amazing. Afterwards, when we went back to the stable to reflect, I just sat there and took a few minutes of enjoying that feeling. For 
the rest of the day I was high with emotion. Everyone noticed and commented. Every time I think of this it gives me an amazing lift in 
my spirits. Thank you Dina for all your hard work, it’s been an amazing journey.

2) I referred one of the young people I was working with to WOTH and he had his first session on Jan. 11th, 2017. He was 11 years of age. 
For the purpose of this report I will call him M. He went to sessions with Dina until May 2017. I referred him due to his anger issues, he 
was bed wetting, had experienced some trauma, witnessed domestic abuse and was abused by his step father when he was younger. 
His relationship with his Mum was quite volatile. Dina worked with M around boundaries. This was something that Mum struggled to 
implement and I was able to work with Mum whilst Dina worked with M to ensure that boundaries could be put in place and Mum was 
able to put in consequences when M over-stepped the boundaries that Mum had laid out.
M’s bed wetting reduced whilst he was working with Dina and the horses. His relationship with his Mum improved dramatically and 
Mum was able to put boundaries in place for M. His anger also improved and he was able to recognise when he was beginning to feel 
angry and find ways to calm himself down and to stop his anger escalating.

LEICESTERSHRE AND RUTLAND YOUTH SAILING ASSOCIATION

1) Colin Magee, Principal and Senior Coach of the LRYSA - This project has enabled the LRYSA to ensure that our willing volunteers are 
qualified to the high standard required by the RYA to ensure a high standard of training and safety cover. The Project has also 
enabled us to replace instructors and safety crew who have either retired or left to go to university.

2)  Aged 17 – Student. I have been a member of the LRYSA youth racing team for 5 years. However, I have always wanted to be an 
instructor and safety boat driver so that I can help to train the new students and the more vulnerable people that the LRYSA help. 
Over the past year I have achieved my power boat level 2. My family would never be able to afford the cost of these courses, the 
funding has helped me to achieve my ambition.

3)  LRYSA instructor. I have been an instructor for 2 years and with the LRYSA training adults and children as a volunteer. The funding 
provided by the Commissioning Board enabled me to go to Rutland Water and train as a keel boat instructor. Keel boats are used to 
train the severely disabled adult students.

4)  Aged 18. I have only 50% sight. Although I have been in the youth racing team since I was 12 years old, I never thought I could 

P
age 31



become an instructor or a power boat driver. I have had special training to enable me to become an assistant instructor and a 
power boat driver.

PEGGS COMMUNITY GROUP – Volunteer Development

1) I suffer from depression and I’m a carer for my Mum. My mate got me to start going. I’m also a volunteer at the house now and really 
enjoy helping out.

2) I learnt to sew, cook and mix with people and now enjoy doing crafts and I meet some lovely friends there who I care about.
3) Michelle grabbed me off the street and persuaded me to come to do the activities. I now meet nice people and enjoy myself and 

learning exciting things and have a good laugh.
4) Gets me out of the house and gives me satisfaction to know that I have made a contribution to my community.
5) To be able to share my knowledge and gardening skills has given me satisfaction at 80.

P
age 32



Appendix 3

Community Safety/VCS Commissioning Pilot Update

Background

During 2016/17, £25,000 of the additional £50,000 (agreed by Executive Members during 
this time period, increasing the Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) commissioning 
funds from £20,000 to £70,000 p.a.), was ring fenced to support Community Safety priorities, 
and specifically work to support vulnerable perpetrators and victims of anti social behaviour 
(ASB), offering early intervention and prevention support via commissioning of the VCS, with 
the aim of proactively seeking to address some of the underlying causes. 

In responding to the above, we subsequently embarked on a Community Safety
Partnership/VCS pilot piece of work, which included the appointment of a p/t Resident
Support Officer for 12 months (based in the HBBC Community Safety Team), to provide
intensive one to one support for victims and perpetrators of ASB, with part of this remit to
identify gaps in support provision, which the VCS could potentially respond to, for this client 
group.

The post holder worked very successfully with a small caseload of clients on an intensive 
basis, between December 2017 – February 2018, but was subsequently successful in 
securing a permanent job at this time.  It has therefore given us the opportunity to re-
evaluate at this interim time period. 

This 3 month period has revealed the following:

 The main gaps in service provision where the VCS would be well positioned to 
respond, is in relation to early intervention/support to mitigate the escalation of 
mental health issues, and provision that helps to raise aspirations/self worth leading 
to meaningful engagement, volunteering, employment, etc. (Our broader VCS 
commissioning arrangements enable commissioning to support the delivery of these 
themes)

 This post has seen some success, but it is felt that this post would not provide 
sustainable change within a reasonable timeframe, to make it financially viable.

 It is felt that there are other current priority community safety issues where this 
funding could be used to commission the voluntary sector, to provide regular youth 
diversion activities in a key hotspot locations across the Borough in both urban and 
rural areas

However, a recommendation is yet to be agreed and will be subject to the agreement of the 
VCS Lead Members, Cllr Mike Hall and Cllr Maureen Cook, who represent the local authority 
on the VCS Commissioning Board.  It is important to emphasis that the remaining funds of 
£20,474, associated with this pilot project will remain ring fenced within the VCS 
Commissioning pot.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



06/16

FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

Scrutiny Commission 24 May 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: Rural Wards

RURAL STRATEGY – ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Report of Director – Community Services 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To provide members with an overview of service delivery in our rural communities, 
against the agreed priorities in our Rural Strategy.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 For members to note and endorse the range and extent of service delivery within 
rural locations during 2017, and progress in delivering against the Borough’s Rural 
Strategy priorities.

2.1.1. Please note this report relates to outcomes for the calendar year January – 
December 2017.  The range of work and outcomes already being delivered in 2018, 
will be reported early next year in the January – December 2018 annual report.

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

3.1 Historically, on an annual basis, the rural affairs lead member has presented a rural 
areas review report to members.  The primary purpose of the report was to present a 
comprehensive account of service delivery specifically within the rural areas of the 
Borough, detailed against each of the authority’s corporate plan priorities.

3.1.1. However, following the appointment of the new administration in May 2015, it was 
agreed that we should seek to clarify and profile specific priorities in supporting the 
needs of our rural Borough. 

3.1.2. Subsequently, an inaugural Rural Conference took place on 1st December 2015, 
focusing on the key challenges and priorities for our rural localities.  The outcomes 
arising from the conference, coupled with evidence gathered from the ongoing Parish 

Page 35

Agenda Item 7

http://intranet/branding/Printlogo/B%20and%20W%20HBBC%20logo%202017.jpg


06/16

Forum meetings, informed the proposed Rural Strategy, setting out longer terms 
aims and high level priorities, namely: access to services and facilities; facilitation of 
transport solutions; promoting neighbourhood planning; rural housing delivery; 
countryside protection & enhancements; economy, enterprise & tourism, and 
community safety & action.

3.1.3. The Rural Strategy was subsequently adopted by Full Council in April 2016.

3.1.4. The high level priorities set out in the strategy are underpinned by key actions, to 
ensure resources are focused to enable the delivery of these priority work streams.  
Arrangements are in place to ensure ongoing review and monitoring of delivery, and 
specifically bi monthly review meetings between the rural lead member and rural lead 
officer, and the Parish Forum review meetings (which take place 3 times per year).

3.1.5. Overall progress is reported at the Annual Rural Conference, and subsequently an 
Annual Statement of Achievements is published, and underpinning key actions 
updated accordingly, so that the Rural Strategy remains an up to date working 
document.

3.1.6. Please find attached the Annual Statement of Achievements 2017 - the report 
details just some of the key achievements and successes during 2017.  The report 
includes a summary of the key actions arising from the November 2017 Annual 
Conference, which will inform the rural work programme, and Parish Forum meeting 
agendas for 2018.

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 The report is to be taken in open session.

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (IB)

5.1 None arising from the report.

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS (MR)

6.1 None

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The delivery of the Rural Strategy supports our People, Place and Prosperity 
corporate priorities, and will specifically support the delivery of the following ambition: 
‘Support our rural communities to enhance local community facilities through our 
Rural Strategy and a range of funding initiatives’, and supports one of our key values: 
‘We will be proactive in engaging our rural and remote communities, as well as those 
who live in our main towns’.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 The Rural Strategy and underpinning priorities has been informed through 
consultation with Service Heads, appropriate Senior Officers and key partners.  

Page 36



06/16

There is ongoing consultation via the regular Parish Forum meetings, and the Annual 
Rural Conference.

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks
Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner
Lack of evidence base to inform the 
focus and resources to deliver on rural 
communities priorities

Ongoing delivery, monitoring 
and review of the Rural 
Strategy priorities

Edwina 
Grant

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The specific purpose of the Rural Strategy is to ensure there is a focus in terms of 
delivery and resources, on the most important issues faced by people living in our 
rural areas.  There is ongoing consultation via the regular Parish Forum meetings, 
and the Annual Rural Conference.

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers: None

Contact Officer: Edwina Grant, Ext 5629
Executive Member: Cllr K Morrell

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Hinckley & Bosworth 

Rural Strategy

Annual Statement of Achievements 2017
“The purpose of this report, is to provide an overview of what has been delivered in our rural 
communities during 2017, against the agreed priorities in our Rural Strategy.

The Rural Strategy sets out longer term aims, and underpinning priorities in tackling the most 
important issues faced by people living in rural areas.  The Strategy is utilised to focus resources and 
delivery, reviewed each year, and refreshed accordingly following the annual rural conference. 

Whilst I am delighted to be able to report on the many successes and achievements during the last year, importantly
this annual review enables the local authority to take stock of where it is putting resources, and whether we are
getting this right, in ensuring we continue to be ambitious enough in planning for, and delivering on the most
important issues for our rural communities, now and in the future”.    Cllr Kevin Morrell, Lead Member, Rural Affairs

This report details just some of the key achievements and successes during 2017.

Key Achievements 2017

Access to Services 
and Facilities1

1

The council has a long standing commitment in

supporting our rural communities, via the Parish and

Community Initiative Fund (PCIF), supporting a wide

variety of capital projects in rural villages and

communities. The Borough Council recognises the value

parishes place on this important funding stream, and

therefore in 2016, the PCIF increased from £100,000 to

£125,000 p.a., and as a one off, a further £38,000 was

made available in 2017, in response to a record number

of submissions, enabling 44 schemes to be supported.

The total funds committed through this scheme since

2005 is £1,195,000.

2017 has seen the introduction of a new HBBC

Developing Communities Fund, aimed at supporting

larger projects in areas where there is (or anticipated to

be) considerable population and/or employment

growth. Over the next 3 years £1.4 million will support

7 key development projects across the Borough.

During 2017 funding has been agreed for the following

projects: Markfield Parish Council for the redevelopment

of their community park adjacent to the community

centre; Market Bosworth Parish Council to support a

redevelopment plan for the town centre covering car

parks, public realm works, and CCTV; Barlestone Parish

Council for the development of a new Village Hall; and

Sheepy Parish Council to replace the floor at Sheepy

Magna Church and installation of moveable pews

creating a multi purpose community venue.

In response to a request from Parishes, the very

successful and popular SNAP Dragon Children and

Families Festival, traditionally held at The Mead in

central Hinckley, was extended in 2016 to include 4 one

day events in our rural areas. During the Summer of

2017, supported by their Parish Councils, the SNAP

Dragon event took place at the following locations:

Twycross Playing Fields; Barlestone Playing Fields;

Botcheston Playing Fields, and Burbage Millennium Hall,

attracting over 1800 participants. In addition a number

of mini SNAP Dragon events were hosted by Markfield

Community Centre, Markfield Churches Together, and

Newbold Verdon Churches TogetherPage 39



2

In addition the HBBC Cultural Services Team provides
ongoing support enabling the delivery of an extensive
range of sport, physical activity and wellbeing
provision in our rural areas.  The following details just
some of the key programmes and initiatives delivered
during 2017:  

n Monthly Inclusive Sports Club at Sport in Desford.

n Older people’s Physical Activity Group twice per 
month at Sport in Desford. 

n Monthly Macmillian’s Physical Activity Group at 
Sport in Desford.

n Weekly Older Persons Group at Markfield 
Community Centre, which also ran a range of 
summer activities including trips to Llandudno and 
Skegness.

n Disability Come and Try it Day – 20 August at 
Sport in Desford, enabling participants with special 
needs to try a range of sports in a tailored and 
supported environment. 

n Feel Alive From 65 sessions took place across 
Bagworth, Ratby, Botcheston, Desford and Groby 
during week commencing 25 September. Delivery 
included a mixture of current and new physical 
activity taster sessions and health checks.

n A series of Health Roadshows delivering Health 
checks, Tai Chi, and seated exercise sessions  took 
place in Burbage, Earl Shilton, Ratby, Botcheston 
and Groby.

In valuing the contribution of our voluntary and
community sector (VCS), the authority ring fences
funding each year, to directly commission our VCS to
deliver essential front line services, to complement
statutory provision.  Owing to the success of these
arrangements, impact and value for money, this
funding has increased from £20,000 in 2013/14, rising
to £70,000 in 2016/17, and for subsequent years.
Important projects in our rural areas have benefitted
from these funds, including:

n The Mayflower Project at Markfield offering support 
for vulnerable people over the age of 50 and their 
carers, to enable improved health, happiness and 
wellbeing.

n Sport in Desford offering an extensive range of 
inclusive health, wellbeing and sports provision.

n Hinckley & Bosworth Community Transport enabling
elderly/disabled people to access Borough wide 
provision  reducing social isolation and loneliness. 

The Borough Council is proud of the work it does in
engaging young people, in helping them learn more
about local democracy, and during Local Democracy
Week 2017 held events with the following schools in
rural areas: Lady Jane Grey, Elizabeth Woodville,
Witherley, Sheepy Magna, Thornton, Martinshaw, St
Margaret’s Cof E, and Highham on the Hill.

2017 saw the Councils Environmental Health Commercial
Service conduct 182 food hygiene interventions in the
rural communities to ensure the safety of food provided
by businesses was safe to eat - this equated to 36.7% of
the services programme during the year. In addition 33
premises in the rural communities received a health and
safety intervention to ensure safe working conditions for
employees and visitor safety - this equated to 27.5% of
the services programme.

The Environmental Health team continue to promote the
legal requirement for all dogs to be microchipped (this
legal requirement came into force in April 2016), with
specific rural events delivered in Newbold Verdon and
Markfield Community Centre during 2017.

In addition the Councils Licensing service carried out 59
inspections of licensed premises to ensure premises were
adhering to their alcohol or gambling licensing
conditions. 

Page 40



The Borough Council is committed to supporting all
Parishes within the borough in the development of a
Neighbourhood Development Plan, and as part of a
package of provision, HBBC have commissioned the
Rural Communities Council to provide dedicated
support to assist Parishes through the key stages of
developing a local plan.  

During 2017, 15 parishes have accessed this support,
with 10 of those actively pursuing neighbourhood

planning, namely: Bagworth and Thornton & Stanton
under Bardon (joint plan between these parishes);
Barlestone; Burbage; Desford; Market Bosworth (adopted
plan); Markfield; Newbold Verdon; Sheepy; Stoke Golding
and Witherley.

Cadeby, Groby, Higham on the Hill, and Peckleton have
received initial RCC support and are considering next
steps.

3

Promoting
Neighbourhood
Development
Planning

3

Facilitation of
Transport Solutions2

The issue of access to transport provision, and
specifically affordable transport continues to be a
challenge for the Borough, and particularly for those
living in our rural areas.  Therefore through our local
voluntary and community sector (VCS) arrangements we
are seeking to help shape a solution to this longstanding
issue.  A facilitated VCS Forum Event will take place on                                         
26 February, aimed at mapping the range and
geographical coverage of community transport
provision, identify the gaps, and options for the
expansion of current provision. The outcomes from this

event, which inform phase 2, with the option of
commissioning some external expertise to help facilitate
a ‘vehicle brokerage’ scheme.

We continue to promote the MIRA bus service linking
MIRA Technology Park to Hinckley, Nuneaton, Atherstone
and Tamworth, enabling better access to local job
opportunities.  In addition we also continue to promote
the expanded ARRIVA bus service, now offering a peak
hour service linking Witherley and Fenny Drayton to MIRA
and Nuneaton .

Rural Housing 
Delivery 4

The new affordable housing scheme at Martinshaw Lane,
Groby commenced in September 2017, and will provide
9 bungalows for rent by the council including 2 adapted
for people with disabilities.  The bungalows will be
prioritised for people with a local connection to Groby.
This important scheme is due to complete in May 2018.
The rolling programme of local Housing Needs Surveys
has continued, supported by our Rural Housing Enabler,

with surveys taking place in Cadeby, Carlton and
Shackerstone parishes.  Importantly as part of this
support provision, parishes are encouraged to link their
housing needs survey to a Neighbourhood Development
Plan, to inform a rounded evidence base of the type and
mix of affordable housing which is needed to respond to
local need.Page 41



4

Countryside
Protection and
Enhancement

5

During 2016 the Borough Council adopted a Public
Space Protection Order (PSPO) – a tool to help local
authorities deal with particular persistent nuisance or
problems, in a specific location, that is detrimental to
the local community’s quality of life.  The PSPO enables
the local authority to impose conditions on the use of
that area which apply to everyone, offering a positive
mechanism to prevent anti social behaviour, and
provide an effective response to some of the issues that
are faced by local residents and businesses.

Therefore, during 2017 we gave parishes the
opportunity to add additional restrictions into the local
authority’s PSPO, on issues of most importance to their
local communities. A comprehensive guidance
document was circulated to all parishes, and
subsequently a briefing session was held with those
Parishes who expressed an interest in taking up this
offer, which included the following rural parishes:
Bagworth and Thornton, Newbold Verdon and
Witherley.  

Subsequently these parishes have all undertaken
localised consultations regarding the restrictions they
wish to be added to the borough wide PSPO. These
local consultations have been completed and all
additional restrictions incorporated into HBBCs current
PSPO. Parishes have been instructed to install signage
on all effected sites to allow enforcement to begin.  The
Clean Neighbourhood Team will be assisting with
enforcement action for any breaches to the order.  

As part of a suite of emergency plans, the council has
developed an Emergency Flood Plan for the Hinckley
and Bosworth area, within which there are areas at risk
of flooding have been highlighted by the Environment
Agency.  These centre around the communities of
Witherley, Sheepy and Sibson. The plan states the
specific role that the Council will undertake during
times of a flood, and the resources the authority has
committed for dealing with flooding incidents. 

The annual Environmental Improvement Project –
enabling the delivery of conservation area
improvement plans, has allocated £33,000 to support
12 projects during 2017/18, including repairs to the
Ashby Canal bridges, and wall restoration, the Ade
Lovelace blue plaque installation, and a number of
commemorative benches.

Page 42



5

Economy,
Enterprise and
Tourism

6

2017 saw the establishment of a multi agency Hinckley &
Bosworth Employment & Skills Taskforce, with a
commitment to ‘maximise the opportunities for local
people to access and gain the right skills and
qualifications, to meet the needs of local businesses
and our key growth sectors’.

An underpinning action plan has been developed, with
some early work underway including:

n An effective approach to linking those seeking 
employment to vacancies.

n Clarifying the apprenticeships and internships offer, 
and raise awareness and take up.

n Identify and find ways to overcome the barriers to 
employment.

n Develop an approach to supporting those returning to 
work.

Owing to the importance and relevance of this work, the
Taskforce continues to attract an increasing number of key
employers.

A commitment has been made to ensure that this local
action plan, takes account of and supports rural
employment priorities, and therefore the developing
plan with be presented and discussed at the March
2018 Parish Forum meeting.

The LEADER programme invites submissions from local
businesses, groups and organisations to enable them to
undertake projects which help create jobs, grow their
business and benefit the rural economy.  In total 21
projects have been approved including 12 projects from
Hinckley and Bosworth with a grant total of £193,734.

Hinckley and Bosworth also has 12 potential pipeline
projects with a grant total of £253.910. 

During 2017 there has been a broad range of
provision to enable rural businesses to access
appropriate business advice and services.  The
following highlights just some of this support
package:

n The production of a Business Directory to enable 
targeted marketing and promotion of 
information, advice and guidance.

n The organisation of a range of events during the 
Leicester, and Warwickshire Business Festivals, 
including:

‘Evolving your Business – essential steps to social 
media success and the Growth of the Millennial 
Workforce’, at Croner, Hinckley.

‘Perfectly placed for tourism growth: Bosworth, 
Hinckley and North Warwickshire’, at Twycross 
Zoo, where the Hinckley & Bosworth and North 
Warwickshire Destination Management Plan 
(DMP) was launched to over 80 attendees.  The
DMP is a framework to guide the future 
development and growth of tourism over the next 
5 years, with the aim of growing tourism by 20% 
by 2022. 

A Business Event ‘Driving Efficiencies’ took place at 
Horiba MIRA on 20th November, setting out
MIRA’s vision for the future and the dynamic 
systems being utilised to improve efficiencies.

‘The future of logistics within the golden triangle: 
employment and skills’ held at DPD Hinckley, on 
23 November.

The first meeting of the Bosworth Tourism Group 
was held on Monday 13 November, at Bosworth 
Battlefield Heritage Centre a key outcome from 
the Destination Management Plan. 

Page 43



6

Community Safety,
Empowerment 
and Action

7

Following the launch of Leicestershire Rural Watch in
early 2016, during this year, there have been ongoing
targeted events in rural areas to engage community
support, including: 

Continued work by the Hinckley & Bosworth and Blaby
Community Safety Partnership to profile and recruit
members to join Neighbourhood Link – a system
designed to improve communication between Safer
Neighbourhood Police and the public.  Members of the
public who register receive updates by text or email
regarding local policing issues in their area i.e. crime alerts,
events, etc. In addition Hinckley & Bosworth have
dedicated volunteer support in place, to support Rural
Watch Neighbourhood Police Teams.

Work continues with our rural communities, led by the
Rural Beat team, offering crime prevention assessments
and security marking of property, with officers carrying
a mobile toolkit to carry out marking events in their beat
areas.  Alongside this the Borough Council’s Community
Safety team is working in partnership with the Police on
Leicestershire Horse Watch, extending security guidance
and marking to horses, tack, trailers, horseboxes and
stables. 

Domestic abuse often relies on isolating the victim from
friends and family, making it extremely difficult for those
affected to seek support from outside.  In rural areas, social
isolation can be compounded by geographical isolation,
therefore the local
authority’s domestic abuse
outreach service continues
to support victims in our
rural areas, accounting for
22% of referrals.
Furthermore, our children’s
worker has provided
therapeutic support to 18
children and young
people from rural areas,
who have witnessed
domestic abuse. 

Our important prevention
and awareness work
with young people in
schools across all parts
of the borough,
continues to grow year on
year, covering topics such
as anti social behaviour,
personal safety, cyber
bullying, alcohol and

drugs, hate crime and healthy relationships.  

Lord Willy Bach, Police & Crime Commissioner for
Leicestershire, officially launched Heritage Watch, at
an event on 12th October.  Working in partnership
with Historic England, Leicestershire Police will train
volunteers to tackle heritage crime – any offence
which harms the value of England’s heritage assets
and their settings to this and future generations.

Lord Bach said “Our volunteers are really committed
to helping us protect our heritage assets for future
generations and I’m grateful for their involvement.
I’m proud that the initiative is being piloted here in
Leicestershire where we have a rich tapestry of
heritage buildings, many of them churches, and
other assets. We need to work hard to protect them
and by working in partnership with the community
we stand a much better chance of preventing crime
and anti-social behaviour.”

The volunteers have
been allocated specific
areas of the county,
and will aim to visit all
of the historical
buildings and sites in
their area.

Domestic Abuse
How to spot the signs of domestic abuse and 
get help for someone who may be suffering

Access informa�on from Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council’s

Domestic Abuse Outreach Service
tel 01455 255746 or 07966 202181Page 44



7

During November 2017, Emergency Planning training
sessions were delivered for elected members, to enable
them to understand their role as part of a major incident.
Subsequently all councillors have been issued with two
handbooks to guide, inform and support them in their
role:  The Major Incident Handbook details the legal
responsibilities the local authority has with regards to
emergency planning, and the role elected members can
play before, during and after a major incident; The
Community Response Handbook explains the role and
importance of Community Response Teams.

Copies of these handbooks can be obtained by emailing
esadmin@hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk or telephoning
01455 255943

At the Hinckley & Bosworth Rural Conference in
December 2016, Lord Willy Bach made a commitment to
attendees, to take on board their feedback about the
need to improve the 101 reporting system.

Following this and the  countywide road shows
supported by Chief Constable Simon Cole and Police and
Crime Commissioner Lord Willy Bach using the approach
‘You said we did’, improvements have been made in
response times to both answering 999 and 101 calls
received at the call management centre at Police HQ,
Enderby.  

In addition, fast text messaging has now become the
norm for ‘instant communications’ across our farming and
rural communities. Additionally, a restricted duty police
officer based at Loughborough has been given the task of
improving communications between Leicestershire
Police and Neighbourhood Watch Members.

In addition to this programme of delivery we have kept
our commitment to hold three Hinckley and Bosworth
Parish Forums annually, and to hold these in rural
areas. During 2017, Forum meetings have been held at
Norton-Juxta Twycross, Bagworth and Newbold
Verdon.  The focus for agendas is informed by the Rural
Strategy priorities as well as emerging issues, with 2017
including a broad range of topics: the Road Safety
Partnership; Police volunteering; Neighbourhood
Development Plans; Neighbourhood watch, Preventing
Extremism Awareness Training, as well as parish success
stories.

The Borough Council is also committed to holding an
Annual Rural Conference, this year’s event (our third
annual event) took place on 30 November, and by
popular demand hosted once again at Twycross Zoo,
attracted 90 delegates representing the rural parishes of
the borough, along with key partners including
Leicestershire Police, Crimestoppers UK, the Rural
Communities Council, Leicestershire County Council, and
DWP, as well as business representatives.

Those contributing to this years programme included:
Roger Bannister, Deputy Chief Constable,
Leicestershire Police, on the work they are doing in
tackling rural crime, and Gemma Gibbs, Regional
Manager, Crimestoppers - the only independent UK
crime fighting charity.  In addition delegates heard first
hand about the journey of those involved in developing
the Sheepy Neighbourhood Plan, as well as other
important strategic work streams including the
development of an Employment & Skills Locality Plan,
and a workshop session on future growth and
development.

Page 45



8

Forward Plan
The following summaries the key outcomes arising from
the annual conference which will inform our rural work
programme and Parish Forum meetings for 2018:

To organise a delegation of  Parish Council
representatives, together with Leicestershire Police
(supported by Roger Bannister, the Deputy Chief
Constable), to meet with County Council representatives
to discuss what collective actions can be agreed to
address speeding in villages

Seek a greater understanding of the role of
Crimestoppers UK, and how this work can support rural
crime priorities.

Continue to support Parishes in the development of
Neighbourhood Plans.

Ensure the developing Employment and Skills Locality
Plan takes account of rural priorities.

Engagement with Local Plan Review and Growth
agenda – January 2018 sees the launch of two major
planning consultations which will include how the
council will plan for growth in the borough.  The first of
these is Direction for Growth: Local Plan Review, Scope
and Options consultation which will commence on 8
January for an 8 week period. The Local Plan provides
planning policies for the borough and identifies the
main locations for future housing, employment and
other identified development needs.

The other document being consulted on is the Leicester
and Leicestershire Strategic Growth Plan: Consultation
Draft (SGP), a long term, high level plan that is being
prepared jointly by all Districts in Leicestershire,
Leicester City, Leicestershire County Council, and the
Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership.  It
will set out an agreed strategy growth across the county
to 2050. It focuses on the delivery of new homes,
supporting the economy, identifying essential
infrastructure and protecting our environment and built
heritage.

The Local Plan Review and SGP will contain policies and
proposals which relate to the Borough’s rural areas and
priorities within the Rural Strategy.

2018 will see the expansion of town centre
management support to rural centres/towns and will
include: 

n Introduction of a specific events fund to enhance 
current events/start new events.

n Events project support enabling access to the HBBC 
Events Team.

n Support and advice with specific projects for 
example: public realm, introduction of wi-fi, business 
initiatives, Christmas lights, CCTV cameras, etc.

Further information

For more information about rural priorities, and the work
underpinning the Hinckley and Bosworth Rural Strategy,
please contact:

Edwina Grant, Strategic & Community Planning
Officer, tel 01455 255629, email 
edwina.grant@hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

PLAN

   
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

LOCAL

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PEOPLE  

 

 

 

 

 

 

       

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REVIEW

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PROSPER
ITY

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PLACES  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scope, Issues and Options Consultation
January 2018

Directions for Growth

Page 46



FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

Scrutiny Commission 24 May 2018
Council 12 June 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS

Introduction of a Local Authority Lottery

Report of – Director Community Services

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To outline the benefits of the introduction of a local authority lottery, enabling access 
to a possible additional funding stream in helping to sustain the borough`s voluntary 
and community sector.

1.2. To seek members support for the establishment and management of a local authority 
Lottery for Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 To approve the establishment of a local authority lottery for Hinckley & Bosworth 
Borough Council and the appointment of a preferred external lottery manager (ELM)

2.2. To authorise the Director of Community Services to have overall management 
responsibility for the promotion and proper governance of the lottery, and for 
compliance with the regulatory regime as a whole, including appointment of the 
preferred ELM, and associated percentage pay-outs.

2.3. To endorse the presentation of an annual report to Scrutiny Commission. 

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

3.1 A Local Authority Lottery Scheme has the potential to help local authorities and the 
voluntary and community sector (VCS) gain access to new funding streams, which in 
turn will help to sustain the VCS sector.

Page 47

Agenda Item 8

http://intranet/branding/Printlogo/B%20and%20W%20HBBC%20logo%202017.jpg


3.1.1 The Borough Council has a longstanding relationship with its VCS, and through an 
established HBBC/VCS Partnership, directly commissions the VCS to delivery front 
line services, which complement statutory provision.  This is enabled by the 
allocation of HBBC funds on an annual basis.

 
3.1.2. Therefore, the introduction of a local authority lottery has the potential to enable 

HBBC to maintain and increase its financial commitment to the VCS, aligned with its 
corporate plan priorities.

3.1.3 A local authority may run a lottery to raise funds to cover anything for which they 
have power to incur expenditure.  In the case of a local authority lottery, the authority 
must apply a minimum of 20% of the gross proceeds to a purpose for which it has the 
power to incur expenditure.  This report proposes that 60% of the proceeds go to 
good causes, pay-out percentages are set out at paragraph 3.2.7.

3.1.4. All local authority lotteries must be licensed by the Gambling Commission. All 
licensees have to act in accordance with the requirements imposed by the Gambling 
Act 2005.

3.1.5 A copy of advice from the Gambling Commission, updated at April 2018, on 
promoting local authority lotteries is attached at appendix 1 to this report.

3.2. Options for delivery

3.2.1. In order for HBBC to run a lottery there are three management options 

3.2.2. (i). Deliver in house

This would require a dedicated IT/software system to run the lottery i.e. management 
of online ticket sales, etc. and a licensed in house manager to run the lottery. The 
council would be responsible for developing and maintaining a dedicated website and 
have full responsibility for marketing and managing the lottery.  

(ii).Through an External Lottery Manager (ELM)

This option would enable HBBC to employ an established and experienced provider 
to manage all or part of its lottery.  An ELM would have responsibility for all day to 
day operations of the lottery, management of online and telephone ticket sales, and 
provide advice, etc.  HBBC would retain full oversight and governance; with 
responsibility for ensuring that the lottery is conducted lawfully and that it fully 
complies with all licence conditions  The authority’s role would also be to ensure 
good cause organisation signing up meet the required criteria, and subsequently 
allocate funding to good causes, and support the ELM with local PR and marketing.

(ii).Through a small society lottery provider

A small society lottery is not required to hold a licence from the Gambling 
Commission, but does need to be licensed by the local authority.  Prize money 
cannot exceed £20,000.  This type of lottery tends to be for clubs, groups and 
societies with relatively small numbers of members.

3.2.3 It is proposed that Option (ii) is the most appropriate model for HBBC.

3.2.4 Having researched appropriate ELMs, officers have identified a preferred supplier, as 
the current sole established and experienced ELM provider.  They are currently 

Page 48



working with 50 local authorities in supporting them with the introduction of a lottery, 
a mix of Boroughs/Districts, Unitaries and a County Council. Of the 50, 26 of these 
have launched their lottery, with the others in various stages of working towards 
achieving their licence, but all have signed up with this preferred provider.

3.3 How the lottery works

3.3.1 The following provides an overview of how the preferred provider model works, and 
the associated terms the local authority would be signing up to.

3.3.2 Players sign up online using Direct Debit or a payment card.  Payments are taken on 
a monthly recurring plan of 3, 6 or 12 month one-off payment.  Tickets cost £1.00, 
players can buy multiple tickets and support multiple good causes.

3.3.3. When players sign up they can choose to buy a ticket that supports either:

 The Central Fund – where 60% of the ticket price goes to a central fund, to 
be allocated by the council’s chosen process.

 A Specific Good Cause - where 50% of the ticket price goes directly to the 
good cause chosen by the player, and the other 10% going to the Central 
Fund. 

3.3.4. Once approved by the local authority, good causes can apply to join the lottery 
website.  They are provided with their own branded page within the website and 
provided with regularly updated bespoke marketing materials. The cause keeps 50% 
of all ticket sales generated through their page.

3.3.5. The lottery draw is conducted by the ELM every Saturday at 8pm and results posted 
live online, on the dedicated website.  Winning players are notified via email and will 
receive their prize directly into their nominated account.  Good causes are paid their 
income automatically on a monthly basis.

3.3.6. The prize structure is shown below:

 Number selection and prize structure:
Winning Odds £ Prize

6 numbers 1:1,000,000 £25,000
5 numbers 1:55,556 £2,000
4 numbers 1:5,556 £250
3 numbers 1:556 £25
2 numbers 1:56 £3 free tickets
Overall odds of winning 
any prize

1:50

3.3.7. The table below shows the structure of how ticket revenues are distributed:

Player 
chooses

Specific Good 
Cause

Player 
chooses

Specific Good 
Cause

Player 
chooses 

Central Fund

Player 
chooses 

Central Fund

% Allocation £ Allocation 
per ticket

% Allocation £ Allocation 
per ticket

Prizes 20 £0.20 20 £0.20

Page 49



Specific Good 
Cause

50 £0.50 - -

Councils 
Central 
Community 
Lottery Fund

10 £0.20 60 £0.60

Administration 17 £0.17 17 £0.17
VAT 3 £0.03 3 £0.03
Totals 100 £1.00 100 £1.00

3.3.8. In summary: 
- 60% of all ticket sales go to Good Causes (50% to the individual cause selling the 

ticket, and 10% to the central fund)
- 20% of all ticket sales go back to supporters as prizes
- 20% (17% plus 3% VAT) is allocated to running costs

3.4. How the Lottery is run

3.4.1 The proposed ELM is licensed by the Gambling Commission, and would run all of the 
day to day operations of the lottery, but HBBC would be responsible, as stated earlier 
for ensuring that the lottery is conducted lawfully.

3.4.2. The following details the key responsibilities for HBBC in establishing and 
delivering a local lottery:

 Application of a Local Authority Lottery licence from the Gambling 
Commission.  The cost of the licence will be approximately £500 per annum

 Approval of initial and ongoing good causes as applications are submitted on-
line

 Authorisation of monthly good cause payments and quarterly Gambling 
Commission submissions

 Continually promote the lottery to players and good causes

3.4.3. The following details the key initial, and ongoing costs:

 An upfront set up cost of £3000
 The Local Authority Lottery License fee, approx. £500 p.a.
 Initial and ongoing marketing costs

Please note, all running costs are covered within the administration charge on 
tickets sales.  There is no annual fee.

3.4.4. Given the authority’s established VCS partnership arrangements, it is proposed that 
consideration be given to utilising the VCS Commissioning Board, as the decision 
making body for the allocation of the central fund.

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 This report is to be taken in open session. 

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS (AW)

Page 50



5.1. Contained within the report at para 3.3.3. Winnings are paid out of takings and any 
shortfall, considered unlikely, is covered by the ELM. Therefore the cost to the 
general fund is minimal.

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS (MR)

6.1. Set out in the report

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

The introduction of a local authority lottery supports our People, Place and Prosperity 
corporate priorities, and will specifically support the delivery of the following ambition: 
‘Support an effective and viable voluntary and community sector.’

8. CONSULTATION

8.1. Ongoing consultation with our VCS is undertaken as part of our broader VCS 
arrangements, overseen by Next Generation, utilising the established VCS Forum, 
broader VCS database and VCS Commissioning Board. 

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:

Risk description Actions to mitigate risk Owner
Lottery does not perform 
and we do not sell tickets

Robust HBBC marketing 
plan and support via VCS 
partnership to support VCS 
marketing

Sharon Stacey

Low take up from our VCS Marketing via VCS 
database, and VCS Forum 
arrangements

Edwina Grant

Reputational risk to the 
Council is affected due to 
poor performance

Robust project monitoring 
and marketing strategy

Sharon Stacey

Reputational risk regarding 
the Council promoting 
Gambling activities 

Being only playable by direct 
debit and pre-arranged sign 
up, no instant gratification or 
instant reward, a section will 
be provided on the website 
to link to gambling support

Sharon Stacey

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

Page 51



10.1. The utilisation of up to date evidence sources and data, informed via the VCS 
Development Forum, and VCS database, has helped to inform the ongoing 
development of our VCS arrangements, and approaches to the sustainability, 
including the needs of rural areas.

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers: None

Contact Officer: Edwina Grant, Ext 5629
Executive Member: Cllr Mike Hall

Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



06/16

FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 24 MAY 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS

ANNUAL REVIEW OF THE RURAL COMMUNITY COUNCIL SERVICE LEVEL 
AGREEMENT TO SUPPORT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING

Report of Director (Environment and Planning)

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To inform Members of the outcome of the annual review of performance against the 
Service Level Agreement the borough council has entered into with the Rural 
Community Council to support neighbourhood planning in the borough; and advise of 
any changes required to the terms of the Service Level Agreement and Service 
Specification.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members:
I. note the satisfactory performance against the Service Level Agreement; 

II. and agree to further engage the Rural Community Council for 12 months in 
line with proposed changes to the Service Specification/ Direct Support 
Elements schedule set out in this report.

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

3.1 On the 1 April 2017, the Council entered into a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with 
the Rural Community Council (RCC) to provide a full neighbourhood planning 
support package to the borough’s local communities for a 3 year term, subject to 
satisfactory annual review. The arrangement was in lieu of recruiting a 
Neighbourhood Planning Officer post as had been agreed by Council on 6 
September 2016.

3.2 The new SLA was a combination of an existing SLA with the RCC to provide 
qualifying groups with support for the consultation and community engagement 
elements of the neighbourhood planning process. The new SLA significantly 
broadens the scope of this, enabling the RCC to provide communities with a wider 
range of neighbourhood planning services

3.3 The terms of the current SLA and Service Specification are that for a fee of £40,000 
per year, the RCC would be able to:

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



06/16

 Provide help for communities to tap into a range of funding opportunities
 Ensure compliance with the HBBC Local Plan
 Act as a single point of contact for phone calls and face to face enquiries
 Share best practice and guidance, bespoke to each plan
 Provide regular feedback to HBBC about uptake and progress
 Work pro-actively with specific communities to bring forward their NDPs
 Ensure full transparency through setting out how much RCC officer time and 

resources being spent
 Provide the additional service of being able to help write plans for communities, 

subject to funding and provided there is no conflicts of interest.
 Support communities to identify and secure a range of grant funding to assist with 

NDP development
 Proactively target communities with information about the neighbourhood 

planning process and the opportunities it presents.
 Ensure all parish council leaders and community leaders within Hinckley are 

made aware of the benefits of NDPs
 Provide a list of ‘approved’ consultants through which communities could appoint 

and help ensure that appropriate consultants are appointed, and that the required 
quality standards are met. 

To summarise, the RCC cover all neighbourhood planning work which otherwise 
would need to be undertaken by officers, with the exception of the key statutory 
stages of the neighbourhood planning process (such as formal area designation, the 
organisation of the examination and referendum), which remain within the remit of 
borough council’s planning service.

3.4 At the outset of the SLA, the council charged the RCC with prioritising several 
parishes and/or Neighbourhood Planning Groups for support, either because 
progress had slowed, interest had been shown or to ascertain whether there was 
interest in developing. The initial groups prioritized were:

 Bagworth, Thornton and Stanton under Bardon
 Barlestone
 Barwell
 Burbage NDP group
 Desford
 Earl Shilton
 Groby
 Markfield
 Newbold Verdon
 Sheepy NDP group
 Stoke Golding NDP group
 West Clarendon NDP group
 Witherley

3.5 Throughout the term of the first year the RCC have kept in regular contact with 
officers and kept them informed and updated about progress. The SLA does require 
quarterly review meetings which for a variety of meetings have not bee strictly 
adhered to. However, officers have access to the RCC’s real time data in terms of 
support progress and are able to contact RCC officers for an update when required. 
It is however acknowledged that for future terms of an SLA the quarterly meetings 
need to be strictly adhered to. Officers from the RCC were also due to present an 

Page 64



06/16

update to Members at the December Planning Policy Member Working Group but 
unfortunately this needed to be cancelled due to severe weather.

3.6 An officer review of the current RCC SLA was carried out on 1 February 2018 
between Sam Howlett, RCC Director of Operations, Edwina Grant, HBBC Strategic 
and Community Planning Manager, Kirstie Rea, HBBC Planning Manager (Policy) 
and Sam Hatfield, HBBC Planning Officer. The RCC presented a Performance 
Monitoring Report (Appendix 1attached) which demonstrated their performance 
against six objectives and performance targets which are summarised as:

Objective/Target Performance
a. All communities made aware of and informed about 

neighbourhood planning
89%

b. 100% of enquiries followed up within 14 days 100%

c. Provide 450 hrs direct support 111%

d. Support a minimum of 6 active projects 183%

e. At least £27,000 match funding and/or local investment secured 4%

f. Database updated quarterly with community neighbourhood 
planning status

89%

It can be seen that predominantly, the RCC have performed above target. For those 
objectives where they fall short the explanation is as follows:

 For objectives a. and f. this is because the following three communities have 
not taken up the offer for the RCC to engage with and inform them about 
neighbourhood planning. Two of these communities are Higham on the Hill 
and Ratby. There has been an initial follow up meeting with representatives of 
West Clarendon but no further contact to date. However at the beginning of 
the SLA the council were only working directly with 13 communities but the 
RCC has had positive dialogue and supported 24 to date.

 For objective e. performance falls far short of target because the RCC are 
working with projects at advanced stages that have already secured 
appropriate funding and investment. Emerging projects will be supported to 
apply for funding/investment when they reach the appropriate stage of 
development.

3.7 During the review meeting discussion was had as to any new areas of support that 
were needed or whether there were aspects of the Service Specification that required 
change. A necessary area of neighbourhood plan production relates to the 
preparation of a Screening Report in relation to Strategic Environmental Appraisal 
regulations. Although there is no statutory obligation for local planning authorities to 
carry out this process on behalf of neighbourhood planning groups, it is usual to offer 
support. Therefore, it is proposed that the council will create a screening template 
which the RCC will support NDP groups to complete and then the council will check 
and submit to the statutory consultees for a response. The RCC have produced a 
updated version of the schedule of Direct Support Elements which is attached to this 
report at Appendix 4.

3.8 From the officer review and proposed Service Specification/ Direct Support Elements 
changes it is recommended that the SLA with the RCC continues for a further 12 

Page 65



06/16

months. However, should the council decide not to re-engage the RCC further there 
will still be the need to recruit at least 1 dedicated neighbourhood planning officer 
under the terms of the Council resolution from 6 September 2016.

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 None

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 An amount of £26,760 has been set aside from existing resources towards the cost. 
This leaves a balance of £13,240 for which a supplementary budget is required

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS (MR)

6.1 Planning Policy Guidance states that a local planning authority must provide advice 
and assistance as it considers appropriate for the purpose to a parish council 
neighbourhood forum or community organisation that is producing a neighbourhood 
plan or Order as required by paragraph 3 of Schedule 4B to the TCPA 1990 (as 
amended).

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The Corporate Plan (2017-2021) seeks to support rural communities through a range 
of measures, including taking forward Neighbourhood Planning. The provision of a 
full support service for local communities to develop NDPs would help achieve these 
aspirations.

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 None

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks
Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner
Failure to provide additional support for 
qualifying groups could result in groups 
not having sufficient support and 
assistance to take forward successful 
neighbourhood plans.

Ensure that support is 
provided.

Kirstie 
Rea

Page 66



06/16

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The provision of additional support and assistance to qualifying groups to assist with 
development of neighbourhood plans will help communities more fully engage with 
planning and the future of their community more widely, and help encourage greater 
participation and community cohesion. 

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers:

 Appendix 1 RCC Performance Monitoring report
 Appendix 2 Service Level Agreement between Hinckley and Bosworth Borough 

Council and the RCC
 Appendix 3 Neighbourhood Planning Support – Service Specification
 Appendix 4 Neighbourhood Planning Support – Direct Support Elements

Contact Officer: Kirstie Rea, 5857
Executive Member: Councillor M Surtees

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 

Project Name: 
 

Hinckley & Bosworth Neighbourhood Planning Service 

 

OBJECTIVES & PERFORMANCE TARGETS: 

1. Provide impartial information, advice, and direct support services to help stimulate and 
deliver robust Neighbourhood Plans across the Borough of Hinckley & Bosworth. 

 

a. All communities (parished and non-parished) made aware of and informed about 
Neighbourhood Planning. 

 

Progress achieved against this target over the reporting period (Inc. % of annual target hit). 
 

 

All communities provided with information and details of Neighbourhood 
Planning service via to known / identified contacts, Parish Council / 
Meetings and/or elected representatives of HBBC. 
 
24 out of 27 geographic communities contacted have been engaged by our 
staff and their Neighbourhood Planning status monitored and recorded. 

 

How we achieved these outputs/outcomes (summary of activity). 
 

Proactive phone calls, emails and face to face meetings/discussions and presentations with/to 
parish councils, parish clerks and individual councillors (Parish and Borough level). 
 
Presentation to all HBBC elected members and at multiple HBBC Parish Council Forum events. 
 
Service Launch Event held at Atkins building and attended by 24 delegates. 
 
News article developed for the Borough Bulletin to promote and publicise contact details. 

 

b. 100% of Neighbourhood Plan enquiries followed up within 14 days of contacting the service. 
 

Progress achieved against this target over the reporting period (Inc. % of annual target hit). 
 

 

All email or telephone enquires received have been dealt with satisfactorily 
within the 14 days.   
 
Usually this has been within 24hrs and no more than 7 days. 

 

How we achieved these outputs/outcomes (summary of activity). 
 

Enquiries received and dealt with via email and/or telephone 

Performance Monitoring 
1st April 17 – 28th February 18 
 

89% 

100% 

Page 69



 

c. Provided 450 hours’ direct support to progress projects. 
 

Progress achieved against this target over the reporting period (Inc. % of annual target hit). 
 

 

A total of 498 hours of direct support has been provided to neighbourhood 
planning projects across the Borough. 
 
 
  

 

How we achieved these outputs/outcomes (summary of activity). 
 

Support has been provided to communities by our internal Neighbourhood Planning Officers and 
where necessary qualified associate planning consultants appointed by the RCC. 
 
Full details of support provided and a breakdown of activity undertaken is detailed within the Live 
Neighbourhood Planning Database set up and maintained as part of the service. 
 

 

d. Supported a minimum of 6 active Neighbourhood Plan projects. 
 

Progress achieved against this target over the reporting period (Inc. % of annual target hit). 
 

 

8 active projects, 2 emerging projects and 1 inactive project supported. 
 
Active projects: 
Stoke Golding; Newbold Verdon; Sheepy; Bagworth, Thornton & Stanton 
under Bardon; Witherley; Barlestone; Burbage; Desford;  
 
Emerging project:  
Markfield; Groby  
 
Inactive project 
West Clarendon (Hinckley) 
 

 

How we achieved these outputs/outcomes (summary of activity). 
 

Projects targeted for support based on liaison with HBBC planners and demand/need within 
communities undertaking or initiating projects.  
 
A summary of work completed is provided below. Full details of each project are contained within 
the Live Neighbourhood Planning Database. 
 
Stoke Golding 
Support provided to independently analyse and interpret household and young people survey 
results. Follow up enquiries dealt with around use of data and policy development. 
 
Newbold Verdon 
Responded to enquiries regarding contacting statutory consultation bodies and access to 
information and support from HBBC. Provided equipment for use at community consultation event. 
Liaised with HBBC and group to resolve issues and progress SEA screening process. 

111% 

183% 

Page 70

https://rcc783.sharepoint.com/:x:/g/planningresilience/EVi_vLhpRCRIvZKFA8IZqmABnjrCog93AViORrDFfLyHoA?e=lmL2Pd
https://rcc783.sharepoint.com/:x:/g/planningresilience/EVi_vLhpRCRIvZKFA8IZqmABnjrCog93AViORrDFfLyHoA?e=lmL2Pd


Sheepy 
Provided meeting space for work with planning consultant. Prepared a draft letter of notice and 
comments form for use within the Pre-submission consultation. Liaised with HBBC and group to 
resolve issues and progress SEA screening process. 
 
Bagworth & Thornton and Stanton under Bardon 
Met with representatives from joint group to initiate project, engage the public and support 
application for designation. Supported project planning and timetabling including programmed 
support from the RCC. Undertook marketing, planning, delivery, analysis and report of 3 community 
consultation drop in events. Supported planning for stakeholder consultation event. 
 
Witherley 
Supported project planning and agreed support package from RCC. Helped to establish project 
steering group and to agree outline work plan and first phase of community consultation. Undertook 
marketing, planning, delivery, analysis and reports for 3 community consultation drop in events. 
Planned, prepared and facilitated a stakeholder consultation workshop. 
 
Barlestone 
Met with the group to plan an outline timetable of work to support a programme of consultation and 
engagement. Supported group to plan, prepare, facilitate and analyse results from 2 community 
consultation drop-in events. Planned, prepared and facilitated a stakeholder consultation workshop. 
 
Burbage 
Worked with our associate planning consultant to review the draft Neighbourhood Plan and to 
advise on and make amendments to policies and wording. Provided support to plan and undertake 
a pre-submission consultation. 
 
Desford 
Undertaken analysis of a household consultation survey including making feedback and 
recommendations to working group. Responded to enquiries on their draft vision and housing 
allocation numbers. 
 
Markfield 
Met with representative to discuss first steps to initiating a project. Supported work to generate 
local interest and support for a Neighbourhood Plan committee.  
 
Groby 
Presented to representatives from the Parish Council and potential working group to outline first 
steps and support work towards applying for area designation. 
 
West Clarendon (Hinckley) 
Met with HBBC representatives to review stalled activity within designated Neighbourhood Area. 
Contacted key groups and individuals in the area to ascertain whether any support existed to take 
the project forward. 

 

e. At least £27,000 match funding and/or local investment secured. 
 

Progress achieved against this target over the reporting period. 
 

 £1,000 secured to support Barlestone Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
4 established projects have existing funding in place. 

 

 

4% 

Page 71



 

How we achieved these outputs/outcomes (summary of activity). 
 

Most current projects at more advanced stages of the process already have funding in place, the support 
they require is covered by funded elements of this service, or they have sourced alternative investment. 
 
All emerging projects are/will be supported to apply for funds once at an appropriate stage of development.  

 

f. Database updated quarterly outlining the Neighbourhood Planning status of all communities 
and activity of the service. 

 

Progress achieved against this target over the reporting period (Inc. % of annual target hit). 
 

 

24 out of 27 geographic communities across the Borough have been 
engaged by our staff and their Neighbourhood Planning status monitored 
and recorded. 
 
 
Live Neighbourhood Planning Database created and the known status of 
all Neighbourhood Planning activity is up to date. 
 

 

 

How we achieved these outputs/outcomes (summary of activity). 
 

Phone calls, emails and face to face meetings/discussions with Neighbourhood Planning and other 
community representatives.   
 
Live Neighbourhood Planning Database designed, created and updated at least monthly. 

 

89% 

Page 72

https://rcc783.sharepoint.com/:x:/g/planningresilience/EVi_vLhpRCRIvZKFA8IZqmABnjrCog93AViORrDFfLyHoA?e=lmL2Pd
https://rcc783.sharepoint.com/:x:/g/planningresilience/EVi_vLhpRCRIvZKFA8IZqmABnjrCog93AViORrDFfLyHoA?e=lmL2Pd


Service Level Agreement

Between

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council

And

RCC (Leicestershire & Rutland)

Page 73



1. INTRODUCTION

1.1.This is an Agreement between Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council (the “Council”) and 
Rural Community Council Leicestershire and Rutland, (RCC) Community House, 133 
Loughborough Road, Leicester, LE4 5LQ (the “Organisation”).

1.2.This Agreement provides a framework for the provision, management and development of 
services for an agreed level of funding.

1.3.This Agreement will last for 36 months from April 1st 2017 to March 31st 2020 and will be 
reviewed annually subject to a satisfactory operational review, which will cover all aspects 
of the operation of this Agreement.

2. SERVICE SPECIFICIATION

Service Aims and Objectives

2.1.The Organisation will provide services to support Neighbourhood Planning in the Council’s 
area as defined in Appendix 1, in conjunction with the Council’s Officers in a format agreed 
by both parties (the “Services”). The Services will be subject to quarterly review and 
amended by the Council accordingly. 

2.2.The Organisation will comply with all statutes, orders and any regulation or byelaw 
applicable to the performance of the Services, including without limitation the Equality Act 
2010 and Children Act 2004.

2.3.The Organisation will endeavour to ensure that there are sufficient staff members 
employed with appropriate ability and training to provide the Services.

2.4.The Organisation is responsible for ensuring that insurance policies with a reputable 
company are maintained to meet legal and statutory requirements and potential claims.  
This will include appropriate employer’s liability and public liability to cover all reasonably 
foreseeable risks arising under this agreement.

2.5.Any change in the charitable or legal status of the Organisation will be notified to the 
Council immediately.

2.6.The Organisation will be permitted to provide specialist services using other agencies or 
persons. Where the provision of the specialist service is to be the usual arrangement the 
prior agreement of the Council is required.

2.7. It is accepted that the Organisation may negotiate separate contracts for the provision of 
specific services not included within this Agreement.

2.8.The Lead Officer contact at the Council will be Kirstie Rea, Planning Policy Manager.

2.9. It is expected that the Organisation will adopt the practices within Council policy and 
undertake training similar to that conducted by the Council with regards to the following:

 Prevent
 Safeguarding
 Equalities and Diversity
 Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS)
 Information Sharing Page 74



3. MONITORING

3.1.Quarterly review meetings will be held to review progress towards achieving agreed 
outputs and outcomes (“Review Meetings”). 

3.2.Payment of the Funding (defined below) will be in accordance with clause 5.2 and subject 
to satisfactory performance and the Organisation complying with this agreement, including 
properly preparing for and attending the Review Meetings.

3.3.The Organisation shall be responsible for providing documentary evidence of 
performance/progress.

4. CONTACTS FOR THE AGREEMENT

4.1.For this Agreement the contacts for liaison arrangements will be the persons occupying the 
posts of:

Strategic and Community Planning Officer - Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council 
Presently – Edwina Grant 

Director of Operations - RCC (Leics & Rutland)
Presently - Sam Howlett

5. FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS

Responsibilities of the Organisation

5.1.The Organisation will allow reasonable inspection of financial records and minute books by 
officers of the Council, if requested, with 7 days notice in writing. 

5.2.The Organisation will acknowledge the Council’s financial support in the Annual Accounts, 
reports and on all material used for publicity purposes relating to the Services and 
correspondence, with agreed standard wording.

5.3.The Organisation will demonstrate the proper conduct of its affairs, both general and 
financial, and that proper books of accounts are kept and audited annually, in compliance 
with charitable and company law and regulatory requirements.

5.4.The Organisation will notify the Council if, for any reason, the Services cannot be provided 
and return to the Council such part of any funding already given as the Council may 
determine having regard to the Organisation’s continuing commitments during a period of 
reduced service provision.

Responsibilities of the Council

5.5.The Council will provide the Funding for the Services, as agreed annually and to notify the 
Organisation of the level of funding by 1st March of the preceding financial year.

5.6.The funding (the “Funding”) for  01/04/17 – 31/03/18 will be £40,000.00

5.7.The Funding for  01/04/18 – 31/03/19 will be £40,000.00

Page 75



5.8.The Funding for 01/04/19 – 31/03/20 will be £40,000.00

5.9.Payment of the Funding will be made to the Organisation in three annual payments upon 
the agreed service specification at Appendix 1. 

5.10. The Council will endeavour to give as much notice as possible to the Organisation of 
any changes in the funding methods.

5.11. The SLA will be agreed and signed by both parties. 

5.12. Once the SLA is signed the Organisation will invoice the Council for the first annual 
payment, the terms of which being that payment is made for the full amount within a 
period of 30 days from the date of invoice.

5.13. The Organisation will invoice the Council for the second annual payment on or before the 
1st March 2018, the terms of which being that payment is made for the full amount within 
a period of 30 days from the date of invoice.

5.14. The Organisation will invoice the Council for the third annual payment on or before the 1st 
March 2019, the terms of which being that payment is made for the full amount within a 
period of 30 days from the date of invoice.

6. COUNCIL’S CORE VALUES

6.1.The Organisation is deemed to have knowledge of the Council’s Priorities and Equal 
Opportunities Policy and will comply with the same to the satisfaction of the Council.

7. PENALTIES

7.1. If the Organisation is in breach of its obligations under this Agreement, the Council 
reserves the right to:

Serve a notice on the Organisation to remedy the breach on such terms and within 
such reasonable time stipulated in the notice, which shall be no longer than 6 weeks; 

or

Terminate this Agreement upon service of a notice of termination in writing, to expire 
not more than 6 weeks from the date of the above notice.

7.2. If the Agreement is terminated, then the Council shall be entitled to a refund of monies and 
the Organisation shall forthwith pay to the Council either:

A sum equivalent to a pro-rata refund of the Funding or part of the Funding 
proportionate to the unexpired period for which the Funding or the instalment of the 
Funding thereon was paid; 

Or the actual unspent amount of funding, whichever sum shall be the greater.

7.3. In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Council will take into consideration any 
winding up costs which may be incurred by the organisation.

Page 76



8. ARBITRATION

8.1. If any disagreement should arise between the parties relevant to their respective 
obligations under this Agreement upon any matter, which cannot be resolved through 
routine liaison or review, then either party may ask for it to be referred to and finally 
resolved by the appointed arbitrator. The arbitrator for the purpose of this Agreement shall 
be the Director of the Council.

9. SIGNATURES

9.1.Without prejudice to any other term of this Agreement, no omission from addition to or 
variation of these terms and conditions shall be valid or of any effect unless it is agreed in 
writing and signed by the authorised officer of the Organisation and Council.

10.LAW

10 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of England and Wales and any dispute 
arising under this Agreement shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Courts of 
England and Wales

Signed by: 

Name: Robert Parkinson Date: 16.6.17

Position:  Director Environment and Planning

For and on behalf of Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council

Signed by: 

Name: Samuel Howlett  Date:  22/05/2017 

Position:  Director of Operations  

For and on behalf of Rural Community Council (Leicestershire and Rutland) 
Page 77



APPENDIX 2 – Prevent

Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015

Section 26 of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, places a duty on “specified authorities” 
(including Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council) to have “due regard in the exercise of their functions, 
to the need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism.”

Section 29 of the same Act has enabled the Secretary of State to issue guidance, which “specified 
authorities” (including Hinckley and Borough Council) must have regard to in carrying out their duties.

As a Local Authority, Hinckley and Bosworth Borough Council has a statutory responsibility to:

- Ensure that frontline staff, including those of our contractors, have a good understanding of Prevent, 
are trained to recognise vulnerability to being drawn into terrorism, and are aware of our local 
reporting and referral arrangements.

- Ensure that publicly owned venues and resources do not provide a platform for extremists, and are 
not used to disseminate extremist views.  This includes ensuring IT equipment available to the general 
public, has the appropriate filtering solutions in place that inhibit access to terrorist and extremist 
material.

The Guiding Principles set out in Chapter 6 of the Government`s Prevent Duty (as amended from time to 
time) shall be deemed to be incorporated into this agreement and the Organisation undertakes to use its 
best endeavours to ensure that those Principles are upheld in the carrying out of this contract.

Page 78



Neighbourhood Planning Support – Service Specification 

1. Introduction and Context

1.1. Formed in 1924, the Rural Community Council (RCC) is a registered charity (no.1077645) and 
company limited by guarantee (no.3665974). The RCC provides a range of training, advice, and 
support services to communities as well as a range of professional consultancy services. 

1.2. The RCC has provided a package of expert advice and professional support services to assist 
with the development of over 20 Neighbourhood Plans since the process was born in 2011. The 
organisation has led the way on developing and refining the plan development process across 
Leicestershire & Rutland and has been recognised nationally for its innovative approach to 
partnership and community led working.  

1.3. For the past 3 financial years Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council (HBBC) has contracted the 
RCC to provide advice and support services to support communities with defined elements of 
the process to develop a Neighbourhood Plan. 

1.4. The support provided by the RCC has been funded by HBBC through a small Service Level 
Agreement with a total value of just under nine thousand pounds per year. 

1.5. Despite the relative low value of this contract, the RCC has provided practical support to four 
communities in the process of developing a Neighbourhood Plan and direct advice to a further 
four communities considering and/or initiating the process. The RCC has also been available to 
provide information at local events, seminars, and through HBBC networks. 

1.6. The RCC’s work to date has included providing advice and support with the development of the 
Market Bosworth Neighbourhood Plan, the first to be officially made within the Borough.  

1.7. By engaging the RCC, HBBC has also bought into a wider network of knowledge, skills, and 
experience of other community led projects and initiatives which has benefitted both the local 
authority and the communities engaged in the RCC’s work. 

1.8. In December 2016 HBBC and the RCC entered discussions with regards to expanding the 
professional advice and support for Neighbourhood Planning provided by the RCC.  Page 79



1.9. The overall aims of the expanded RCC service are to: 

a) Ensure all communities across the Borough are aware of the Neighbourhood Planning
process and are enabled to make informed decisions whether to produce a Neighbourhood
Plan for their area.

b) Increase the number of active Neighbourhood Plan projects across the Borough.

c) Provide an enhanced support offer to communities undertaking the process to develop a
Neighbourhood Plan which is flexible and responsive to the needs, priorities and resources
within and available to each community.

d) Maximise and make best use of the capacity and resources HBBC has available to support
the Neighbourhood Planning process within communities across the Borough.

2. Costs

2.1. This service specification is based on a three-year program valued at a total of £120,000. 

2.2. The service will be delivered by the RCC from 01/04/2017 until 31/03/2020 inclusive. 

2.3. The annual cost breakdown of the service is as follows: 

Year 1 (April 17 – March 18) 
1. Advice & Brokerage Service (Full Time Cover) £22,480.00 
2. Direct Support (450 hours) £17,520.00 

Total Cost £40,000.00 

Year 2 (April 18 – March 19) 
1. Advice & Brokerage Service (Full Time Cover) £22,480.00 
2. Direct Support (450 hours) £17,520.00 

Total Cost £40,000.00 

Year 3 (April 19 – March 20) 
3. Advice & Brokerage Service (Full Time Cover) £22,480.00 

4. Direct Support (450 hours) £17,520.00 
Total Cost £40,000.00 

3. Service Specification

3.1. The RCC service for Neighbourhood Planning support within the Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
is broken down into two core blocks of activity. 

Page 80



3.2. Block 1 – Advice & Brokerage 
This block of activity is focused on the RCC managing a blanket advice and brokerage service 
covering all Neighbourhood Planning activity across the Borough.  

The service will be accessible via telephone and e-mail Monday to Friday between 9:00am and 
4:30pm and include capacity for officer attendance at daytime and evening meetings and events 
from Monday to Saturday. The service will also be accessible online and via dedicated social 
media platforms (e.g. Facebook). 

Outputs & Outcomes 
Across the three years’ delivery of this block of activity the RCC will: 

a. Field, investigate, respond to, and follow up all Neighbourhood Plan related enquiries on
behalf of HBBC.

b. Proactively target communities with information about the Neighbourhood Planning process 
and the opportunities it presents.

c. Ensure all Parish Councils and community leaders within the town of Hinckley are made
aware of the process and are adequately informed to decide whether it is appropriate
and/or beneficial to produce a Neighbourhood Plan for their area.

d. Maintain an up to date and accurate database on behalf of HBBC detailing the
Neighbourhood Planning status of all communities across the Borough (e.g. plan in
progress, plan pending, decided not to progress, no contact).

e. Collect and provide HBBC with data around the reasons that communities cite for deciding
to go ahead or not with the production of a Neighbourhood Plan.

f. Advise communities deciding to go ahead with the process how to apply to HBBC to
designate a Neighbourhood Area and where appropriate a Neighbourhood Forum.

g. Provide access to information and professional advice on the procedural steps to produce a
plan including statutory requirements and best practice guidance.

h. Assess the local skills, resources, capacity and commitment available to develop a
Neighbourhood Plan and what (if any) specialist support is needed for each project.

i. Help to ensure that the need to employ specialist consultants is adequately assessed, that
appropriately qualified professionals are engaged, and that required quality standards and
value for money are achieved.

j. Support communities to identify and secure grant funding and investment of local resource
to cover plan development costs (i.e. Locality Grants).

k. Check that emerging plans are developing in general conformity with all relevant planning
policy (including reviewing all final draft plans).

l. Broker the relationship between active Neighbourhood Plan projects and HBBC
(i.e. fielding enquiries and facilitating links with Planning Officers).

m. Manage a pipeline and timetable of active Neighbourhood Plan projects across the Borough
to enable both the RCC and HBBC to plan capacity and resource allocation accordingly.

Page 81



3.3. Block 2 – Neighbourhood Plan Development – Direct Support 
This block of activity is based on the RCC providing direct support to practically assist 
communities within the Borough with the Neighbourhood Plan development process. 

Direct support will be allocated to active Neighbourhood Plan projects across the Borough using 
a set of clear criteria agreed with HBBC. These criteria will include: 

a. The project being led by a Parish Council (for Parished areas) or a HBBC approved
Neighbourhood Forum (in the town of Hinckley).

b. The Neighbourhood Plan Area being formally designated by HBBC.

c. Match funding for the project being identified from other sources (e.g. Locality Grants) or
available directly from the community (e.g. precept or local investment).

A detailed overview of the RCC’s current support package which will be made available to 
projects is provided in Appendix 2 – Direct Support Elements. 

A set number of hours will be allocated to each supported community/project (in agreement 
with HBBC). Hours will be allocated flexibly between projects depending on demand, local need, 
and HBBC priorities.  

The RCC may provide additional support to each project outside this service subject to 
additional funding/finance being obtained by the community (e.g. Locality Grants). 

Outputs & Outcomes 
Across the three years’ delivery of this block of activity the RCC will:

4. The RCC Approach

4.1. The RCC has a community development focussed approach to Neighbourhood Planning which 
would underpin delivery of this service. This approach is based upon: 

a) Professionalism – Providing advice and support based on best practice guidance and in line
with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.

b) Flexibility – Tailoring support around the unique needs and priorities of each community

c) Honesty & Impartiality – Acting as an honest and impartial advisor, facilitator, broker, and
critical friend to all parties engaged in the plan development process.

d) Accountability – Managing the process to ensure accountability, control, and that high-
quality standards are maintained.

e) Simplicity & Accessibility – Keeping the process simple, understandable, and accessible.

f) Efficiency & Collaboration – Maximising available skills and resources (within the community
and HBBC) and enabling communities to share information, experiences, and resources.

g) Sustainability – Building capacity within the community and leaving lasting benefit.

a. Provide 1,350 hours’ direct support to active Neighbourhood Plan projects.
b. Benefit a minimum of 6 active Neighbourhood Plan projects each year.
c. Lever in at least £81,000.00 in match funding and/or local investment.

Page 82



5. Added Value

5.1. By contracting the RCC to manage and lead delivery of this service, HBBC benefit from several 
areas of added value. 

1. Receive high calibre delivery resource for low salary equivalent investment

a. Access a broad bank of skills, knowledge, and experience from across the RCC which will be
constantly developing and expanding without any additional cost or resource implications.

b. Avoid human resource (HR) management costs and liability as this will sit within the RCC.

c. Ensure a constant full time service with little or no down time due to employee working
hours, leave & absence, training, and other internal activity.

2. Maintain impartiality, integrity, & continuity of the service

a. Build on investment and progress achieved over last three years of delivery.

b. Capitalise on the RCC’s existing relationships and reputation across the Borough.

c. Avoid the need invest resource in building trust in the service and its delivery provider.

3. Tap into local & national networks of intelligence, expertise, & collaborative working

a. Draw from the RCC’s extensive network of Neighbourhood Plans, Parish Councils, and
specialist support providers.

b. Benefit from RCC’s strategic and operational partnerships with Locality, Leicestershire &
Rutland Association of Local Councils and the wider VCS.

c. Benefit from the RCC’s membership of national networks managed by Locality and ACRE.

4. Benefit from broader RCC activity generating additional investment & impact

a. Lever in external funding and support outside RCC support arrangement

b. Generate and lever in funding for broader activity and community benefit stimulated by the
Neighbourhood Planning process (e.g. Good Neighbour Schemes, Community Owned Assets,
Community Buildings & Village Halls).

Associated Documents: 

• Appendix 2 – RCC Direct Support Elements 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 (Revised for 2018-19) 

 

RCC Neighbourhood Planning Service – Direct Support Elements 

Depending on the identified needs and available resource, the RCC will offer direct support to target 

communities (agreed with HBBC) consisting of one or more of the following elements: 

   

Getting Started 

Information and advice to help 
decide if a Neighbourhood Plan is 
right for a community and to set 

up and plan the project 

Funding & Resources 

Help to identify and secure 
resources for a project including 

money to cover the costs of 
professional consultancy support 

Communications 

Help to market a project and to 
engage individuals, households, 
organisations, businesses and 

statutory authorities 
   

   

Evidence Gathering 

Support with project research and 
gathering evidence to help shape 

and back up the policies and 
proposals within a plan 

Community Consultation 

Help to consult the community 
and statutory bodies via online 
surveys, questionnaires, events, 

workshops or focus groups 

Drafting a Plan 

Support to develop and refine 
planning policies, make site 

allocations and to prepare a draft 
Neighbourhood Plan 

   

   

Pre-Submission 

Support to plan and facilitate a 
statutory pre-submission 

consultation on a draft plan 
including dealing with responses 

Compliance Checks 

Ensuring a draft Neighbourhood 
Plan is compliant including help to 
check general conformity with all 
relevant policies and regulations 

Screening 

Support to screen a draft plan to 
ascertain whether there is a 
requirement for a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment 

   

   

Content and Design 

Help to make final amendments 
and to finalise the content and 

design of the submission version 
of a Neighbourhood Plan  

Consultation Statement 

Support to develop a Consultation 
Statement and Basic Conditions 
Statement in support of a final 
submission version of a plan 

Referendum 

Advice and support with 
distributing a final plan and to 

inform people about the 
referendum 

 Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



06/16

FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 24 MAY 2018
COUNCIL 12 JUNE 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS

DIRECTIONS FOR GROWTH LOCAL PLAN REVIEW – SCOPE, ISSUES AND OPTIONS 
CONSULTATION COMMENTS AND NEXT STEPS

Report of Director (Environment and Planning)

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1.1 To provide an update on the Local Plan Review (LPR) and to set out the comments 
to the Scope, Issues and Options consultation exercise.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members:
I. Note the progress made to late on the Local Plan Review

II. Note that an eight week public consultation exercise was undertaken 
between 8 January and 4th March 2018.

III. Note the summary of comments received to the Scope, Issues and 
Options consultation; and

IV. Agree that progress continues to be made on the Local Plan Review as 
set out in the Local Development Scheme (as set out in the ‘Next steps’ 
part of this report

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

Scope, Issues and Options consultation (Jan-Mar 2018)

3.1 In December 2017, Council endorsed the revised timetable for the Local Plan Review 
as set out in the Local Development Scheme. The first stage of the LPR consultation 
invited views on the Scope of the review, the issues that ought to be taken into 
consideration and the broad options for growth that ought to be considered.

3.2 The consultation document set out the following key issues/questions

 The need to plan to accommodate as a minimum of 454 homes per annum 
for the plan period

Page 87

Agenda Item 10

http://intranet/branding/Printlogo/B%20and%20W%20HBBC%20logo%202017.jpg


06/16

 Recognise that under the ‘duty to cooperate’ we have to assist and 
accommodate the shortfall that is occurring in the Housing Market Area, and 
that the Strategic Growth Plan is our prospectus for achieving this

 The identification of 6 broad potential options for accommodating growth and 
the opportunities and challenges these options may provide. The broad 
options sought view on focussing development through the following:

o Neighbourhood Development Plan led development
o Existing Core Strategy approach
o Key transport and accessibility corridors
o New Garden Village/town
o Proportionate growth of key rural settlements
o A mix of the above options

3.3 The consultation document invited respondents to comment on 25 questions or to 
make any other comments they wished to do at this stage.

Publicity for the Consultation

3.4 In addition to using the Council’s planning policy consultation database (which allows 
all those with an interest in planning policy to be informed about consultations) other 
communication channels were used, including social media.

3.5 The consultation and notifications included:

 500+ direct letters/emails
 Articles in the Borough Bulletin (which is received by all households)
 Press release in local paper (Hinckley Times)
 Parish Council presentations
 Document deposits in libraries.
 Twitter and Facebook feeds ahead of the consultation and during the 

consultation
 Front page icon on the Council’s website (www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk)
 During the consultation period, we launched a stand alone consultation 

platform called Commonplace as another channel through which to engage 
stakeholders

3.6 The Parish Councils that took up our offer of a briefing included:
 Burbage Parish Council
 Sheepy Parish Council
 Stoke Golding Parish Council
 Witherley Parish Council
 Twycross Parish Council (this did not take place due to bad weather)

3.7 General drop-in and themed presentations were also delivered at venues across the 
borough and included:

 Hinckley Town centre (Sainsburys and Atkins building)
 Community and village halls in Markfield, Bagworth, Witherley, Burbage, 

Market Bosworth, Groby, Sheepy and Newbold Verdon,Earl Shilton and 
Barwell (Age UK and George Ward Centre)

3.8 Engagement with Parish Councils and other bodies will be ongoing and opportunities 
will continue to be taken to keep them updated. 

Comments received in response to the Consultation

Page 88

http://www.hinckley-bosworth.gov.uk/


06/16

3.9 Over 840 comments were received to the consultation from around 80 submissions. 
These have been from a range of stakeholders including statutory consultees, Parish 
Councils, businesses, residents, developers and interest groups. 

3.10 Attached to this report (as Appendix A) is a summary of all the comments organised 
by each question for ease of reading.

3.11 The key comments from the consultation are highlighted in the following section, 
(Appendix A contains, in full, all the comments received and our proposed response 
to these comments):

Vision (Q1)

 There was broad support amongst the respondents for the revised vision, 
however, respondents suggested minor changes be made to the vision to 
make it more ‘borough specific’. Several respondents put forward text for 
what should be included in the revised vision.

Objectives (Q2-Q3)

 Most respondents agreed with the objectives as they are drafted, but some 
respondents suggested an additional objectives for health and wellbeing; 
communities; health and wellbeing. 

 Respondents, mainly from the development, sector suggested the 
‘development/land...’ objective was not fit for purpose and needs to be 
amended to bring it into line with NPPF. On the transport objective, some 
respondents suggested that it is amended to improve current issues with 
transport and not only for new development

 A few respondents expressed scepticism of the council’s ability to deliver on 
these objectives.

Overarching Spatial Strategy (Q4 – Q5)

 We invited consultees to rank the spatial strategy options in order of the 
preference they would like us to adopt and develop further as part of the 
Local Plan Review. Most respondents suggested a mix of the options rather 
than a single discreet option. The table below provides a weighted score1 
result for their preferred option for the spatial strategy:

Option Weighted total
Proportionate growth of key rural areas 169
Key transport and accessibility corridors 162
A combination of the above options 159

1 a weighting has been applied to each rank (so rank 1 = number of times ranked * 6, rank 2 = number 
of times ranked * 5, rank 3 = number of times ranked * 4, etc.). This ranking does not necessarily 
correlate with the qualitative comments received on the options.

Page 89



06/16

Core strategy approach 147
Garden village/new settlement 116
Neighbourhood development plan led spatial distribution 115

 While consultation question 5 for each option asked “Do you think we have 
identified all the challenges and opportunities presented by option [x]” comments 
received to these questions did not always address solely the challenges and 
opportunities. The majority of the commentary expressed support or 
disagreement with the option citing multiple reasons. 

The comments below with regards the options should be read with the above in mind.

Option 1 – Neighbourhood Plan led distribution

 Supportive comments to this option were received from Neighbourhood 
Development groups and Parishes, whilst those from the development sector 
did not see this as an appropriate approach to spatial distribution

 Concerns were also raised about this approach leading the plan to fail 
‘soundness’ and legal tests.

Option 2 – Core Strategy Approach

 While some respondents viewed continuation of this approach into the new 
local plan, others expressed concern about it, especially in relation to the non-
delivery of strategic sites (SUEs).

 Some were concerned about the impact on smaller villages/settlements of 
continued growth, without supporting infrastructure.

Option 3 – Key Transport and Accessibility Corridors

 There was broad support for this option, although some did consider that it 
needed to be part of a mix for the adopted spatial strategy

 Concerns were raised about not identifying the ‘northern A50 corridor’. 

Option 4 – Garden Village/New Settlement

 Respondents considered this as the best option for delivering the required 
housing, infrastructure and services needed for the borough.

 Some questioned the borough’s ability to deliver large scale development 
given the non-delivery of the SUEs.

Option 5 – Proportionate growth of Key Rural Centres

 Comments received supported this option as being the most sustainable, but 
said this should be as part of a mix as it was not clear how it would deliver 
the required level of development as a standalone approach.

Option 6 – A combination of the above options

Page 90



06/16

 Most comments said this was their preferred option
 Option 3 and 5 were put forward to be included as part of any mix.

Existing Core Strategy policies (Q6)

 Comments support the review of the Local Plan; including employment, green 
wedges, affordable housing and transport. Comments were also made on the 
need to take account of the emerging NPPF.

 Comments, alongside suggestions, were also made on the assessments for 
density, transport and key rural centres relating to Leicester. 

Communities and places (Q7)

 Comments put forward the need to identify the needs of the local community, 
as well as for communities to understand the benefits from development, 
especially as rural hamlets fail to gain development benefits given their size. 

 Comments were also made on the need to reflect heritage (through a 
strategic heritage policy), landscape and to have high quality design included 
in the local plan. 

Housing (Q8-10)

 Most respondents recognised the need for the planned housing, but 
comments from the development/housing building sector suggest the 
identified number should be regarded as the minimum, and that once 
agreement had been made within the HMA, this was likely to be higher for the 
borough

 Comments supported our approach to affordable housing and other strategic 
housing matters

 Comments also supported the need to deliver a mix of different types of 
housing to meet needs.

Economic Development (Q11-Q14)

 Comments were made on the social and economic importance of agriculture 
and rural businesses, whilst also ensuring that we provide a mixed local 
economy on flexible sites that re fit for modern business practices.

 There is support for relating employment to key transport routes and strategic 
locations (for example A5, A50, A511, M1 Junctions), especially strategic 
distribution.

 Comments support our aim for attracting maximum investment into the 
Borough in a variety of employment sectors - especially aim for high-
technology jobs like the well-established sites we have at MIRA and Triumph. 
Support was also given for employment, training skills and apprenticeships 
from new development.

 Many comments do not support a blanket policy for affordable workspaces in 
new developments, due to implications on viability, and varying market 
interest in areas across the borough, however some do support affordable 

Page 91



06/16

workspaces, in particular to encourage entrepreneurial enterprises and 
small/medium sized businesses.

Tourism (Q15)

 Support for rural tourism and heritage based tourism, i.e. Twycross Zoo, 
Mallory Park, Bosworth Battlefield, Ashby Canal, National Forest – however 
there should be a sensitive balance to preserve rural characteristics, avoid 
over-development, and overcome infrastructure needs such as parking and 
road/congestion issues.

Infrastructure (Q16A & Q16B)

 Comments received supported the council’s need to work with relevant 
partners/stakeholders to deliver infrastructure, as well as keeping the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan up to date. Both of these are seen as being 
important for the success of the community.

 The A5, as well as congestion on the local roads, is seen as major pressure 
on the transport infrastructure, and an impediment to development. There 
was also recognition in the comments that public transport, in particular rail 
provision in the borough is weak.

Environment (Q17-Q19)

 Comments to Q17 were made both supporting national climate change aims 
through the local plan review and it being dealt with outside the local plan, for 
example through national policy or through building regulations

 There is qualified support for strengthening the  Green Wedges (Q18) policy 
with comments stating that they as blunt policy instruments to development  
to others viewing these as places for nature to flourish.

 Comments supported our approach to addressing environmental issues 
(Q19), with air quality, action on flooding and a dedicated ecology and 
biodiversity policy being identified as areas to address in the next iteration of 
the local plan.

Design Quality (Q20 –Q21)

 Comments received (Q20) were supportive of our proposal but stressed the 
need to ensure future policies were sufficiently flexible to respond to 
development need, add (value) to the national framework, and be realistic 
without imposing prescriptive design standards.

 There is no broad support for introducing a minimum dwelling size, and 
comments expressed concern that this would be an unnecessary intervention 
in the housing market at the local level, particularly as guidance is already in 
place nationally.

Healthy Lives and places (Q22-Q25)

Page 92



06/16

 Comments to Q22 put forward the need to work with health partners to 
develop an overarching health and wellbeing policy to ensure there are 
sufficient health care resources to deliver the supporting health policies.

 Comments on ‘active design’ stated no need for a separate policy as most 
developments promote walking, cycling and playing, however there is a need 
to consider Sport England’s Active Design Document, as well as locating 
development in sustainable locations.

 Comments suggested the need to have an objective to improve the leisure 
facilities as well as access to the countryside. Comments stated that evidence 
from the Playing Pitch Strategy and other open space studies should be used 
and kept under constant review

 Athletics, cycling, improvement to rights of way and investment into the canal 
towpaths were all identified potential opportunities to be supported by the 
local plan review. Comments were also received on the need to provide 
leisure facilities in key rural centres and not just be Hinckley focussed. 

Our response to the Consultation Representation

3.12 The next stage for the council is to consider how to respond to the comments. This 
response will, in the main, be reflected through the content of the preferred options 
draft local plan. We will be working up a draft document over the coming months, and 
once agreed, will seek to carry out consultation on it. In the interim, a proposed high 
level response to the comments is incorporated in Appendix A.

Housing Market Area

3.13 Planning for an area’s housing need is undertaken at the ‘Housing Market Area’ and 
Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council is part of the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Housing Market area. While there is an acknowledged shortfall in the housing market 
area, the exact figure is yet to be agreed through a Memorandum of Understanding 
between the authorities. For the scope, issues and options consultation, we set out 
that for the plan period we need to be planning as a minimum for 454 dwellings per 
annum in our borough. 

3.14 The MOU, which is being developed, once complete will set out the quantum and 
distribution of development to be accommodated in the HMA and will be taken 
forward through individual authorities Local Plans. The draft MoU, once ready will be 
reported to Full Council for endorsement.

Call for Sites

3.15 In parallel to the Scope, Issue and Options consultation, a ‘call for sites’ exercise has 
also been undertaken. Ultimately this will provide evidence regarding land availability 
and potential future supply to be taken into account as progress on the LPR is made. 
Landowners and others with an interest were invited to suggest sites that may be 
available for development. However, it must be recognised that suggesting sites at 
this stage is not a guarantee that the land will be considered suitable for 
development. 

3.16 Over 70 sites have been put forward through this exercise and these will be 
considered in more detail as the draft plan is prepared. Inclusion on the schedule at 

Page 93



06/16

this stage does not mean that the council favours, endorses or otherwise encourages 
the development of the sites.

Engagement with Members

3.17 Members have been engaged through the Planning Policy Member Working Group in 
preparing the consultation draft documents, and all Members were invited to attend 
any of the drop-in sessions during the consultation exercise.

3.18 Members will continue to be engaged throughout the preparation of the next version 
of the Plan to help understand the outcomes of the scope, issues and options 
consultation in the context of spatial growth options; evolution of options, including 
discussions on place making approach, strategic site allocations and delivery 
strategies, and case studies/site visits. 

3.19 Members are invited to make any further suggestions regarding issues/subjects that 
they would find beneficial to include as part of the ongoing engagement.

Next Steps

3.20 Following consideration of the comments to the scope, issues and options 
consultation, we are preparing a ‘preferred options’ draft. 

3.21 This work will include:
 Continue to strengthen the supporting evidence base. This will include an 

Infrastructure Capacity Study, Housing Needs Study (HNS) and Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA), amongst others. While the 2017 HEDNA provides an important 
basis for setting the housing requirement, the HNS will provide more detailed 
evidence of particular needs within the borough.

 Ongoing engagement with Members and our communities to inform the 
preparation of the draft plan

 Regular ongoing engagement with our neighbouring authorities and other 
stakeholders, this is key to demonstrating the ‘duty to cooperate’.

3.22 As per the published Local Development Scheme the preferred options version of the 
Local Plan Review is planned to go before Council later in the year to seek 
agreement to go out to consultation before the end of 2018.

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 None

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [DW]

5.1 The following table below sets out the spending profile of the project for the years 
2017-18 to 2020-21 and the LDF reserve balances being used to fund the 
expenditure.

2017-18 2018-19* 2019-20 2020-21
£000 £000 £000 £000

Opening Balance (669) (613.8) (492.6) (508.6)
Strategic Growth 25.3 28.2 0 0
Revised Local Development Scheme 29.9 193.0 84 268

Page 94



06/16

Total Expenditure 55.2 221.2 84 268
Total transfers in 0 (100) (100) (50)
Closing Balance (613.8) (492.6) (508.6) (290.6)

*The amount shown in 2018-19 includes £83k of expenditure from 2017-18 for which 
a carry forward has been requested as part of the year end outturn process.

5.2 The estimated 2020/21 reserve balance above is £290,600 compared against the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy presented to Council in February 2018 which 
forecast a balance of £297,700

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [AR]

6.1 None arising from this report.

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The options/proposals will contribute to the delivery of the following Corporate Plan 
priorities:

 People
- Give children and young people the best start in life and offer them the 

opportunity to thrive in their communities
 Places
- Make our neighbourhoods safer
- Improve the quality of existing homes and enable the delivery of affordable 

housing
- Inspire standards of urban design that create attractive places to liver
 Prosperity
- Boost economic growth and regeneration…places to work and live all over the 

borough.
- support the regeneration of our town centres and villages
- support our rural communities
- work with partners to raise…employment and home ownership

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 An eight week public consultation between 8 January and 4 March 2018 on the 
Scope, Issues and Options consultation document, the Statement of Community 
Involvement, Local Development Scheme and Sustainability Appraisal Scoping 
Report.

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

Page 95



06/16

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks
Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner
The Directions for Growth-Local Plan 
Review  is not considered to be legally 
compliant

Ensure development of 
Local Plan follows the 
LDS timetable and is 
produced in accordance 
with NPPF guidance, 
including soundness 
checks.
Where necessary to 
revise and publicise 
revised LDS timetable

Head of 
Planning

Review of the Directions for Growth-Local 
Plan Review  falls significantly behind the 
published Local Development Scheme [due 
to aligning its timetable to the Strategic 
Growth Plan timetable], with the result that:

 available evidence 
becomes dated and less 
reliable – requiring a 
need to commission 
updates/new studies. 

 Increasing challenge to 5 
year land supply 
position, leading to 
speculative development 
proposals or more 
challenges of planning 
decisions.

Directions for Growth 
consultation should be 
launched in January 
2018, and if required run 
for a longer period of 
time so that it closes at 
the same time as the 
draft Strategic Growth 
plan consultation.  

Head of 
Planning

The Local Development Scheme (LDS) is 
not up to date. The LDS is required under 
section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011). It must be made 
available publically and kept up to date.

Prepare an updated 
LDS and publicise this 
on the Council’s 
website. Seek Members 
agreement to delegate 
authority to the Director 
(Environment and 
Planning) and relevant 
Executive Member) to 
amend LDS timetable as 
required.

Head of 
Planning

The requirement for a Statement of 
Community Involvement was established 
as part of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 and they are prepared 
to set out how the public and stakeholders 
etc will be involved in the preparation of 
local planning documents and planning 
applications.

Members agreement to 
delegate authority to the 
Director (Environment 
and Planning) and 
relevant Executive 
Member) to make minor 
drafting/presentational 
changes.

Head of 
Planning

Page 96



06/16

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Directions for Growth-Local Plan Review addresses issues associated with 
development and will provide a framework in which to manage growth across the 
borough.

10.2 Engagement with stakeholders and other local authorities is an integral part of the 
plan making process, and the council is required to demonstrate this through to 
Examination in Public. 

10.3 This report does not result in direct implications for Equalities, Rural Communities, 
and Environmental.  

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers: Appendix A Comments Analysis (due to file size, this is only available 
in hard copy in the Mayor’s Parlour or from Planning Policy team)

Contact Officer: Kirstie Rea, Planning Manager (Policy)
Executive Member: Cllr Miriam Surtees

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



06/16

FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

Scrutiny Commission 24 May 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME FOR 2018/19

Report of Director (Environment and Planning)

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 This report outlines the Environmental Improvement Programme for 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Scrutiny agrees the enhancement schemes (Appendix 1) to be implemented in 
the financial year 2018/19 as the Environmental Improvement Programme. 

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

BOROUGH IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME 2018/19

3.1 If partners agree to make financial contributions towards projects, as anticipated, it 
will be possible to finance the 16 schemes identified in Appendix 1. The 16 schemes 
have an overall estimated cost of £90,270.80, with a gross cost to Hinckley and 
Bosworth Borough Council of £44,782.90. After taking account of external 
contributions the net cost to this Authority will be £34,585.40.  

3.2 This year’s programme aims to continue the practice to implement schemes 
identified in the Authority’s Conservation Area Management Plan Reviews and 
provide a good distribution of projects throughout the borough, both in the urban and 
rural areas. Match funding is sought where appropriate.   

3.3 Appendix 2 outlines the progress made on the projects included in the 2017/18 
programme. 

3.4 GUIDELINES FOR PRIORITISING SCHEMES

The agreed guidelines approved by members for prioritising schemes are set out 
below: 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11



06/16

(a) Implement schemes identified in the Authority’s Conservation Area 
Management Plan Reviews, 

(b) Schemes that generate significant amounts of external funding, or be 
supported by partnerships involving private sector funding,

(c) Complete or complement schemes undertaken in previous years' 
programmes,

(d) Contribute to the Strategic objectives of the Local Authority to provide an 
attractive environment,

(e) Be in areas which have not yet benefited significantly in previous years' 
programmes,

(f) Voluntary organisations are given priority for undertaking appropriate projects 
providing the work meets the selection guidelines outlined in sub paragraphs 
(a) to (e).

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 This report is to be taken in open session.

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [IB]

5.1 The net cost in 2018/19 is £34,585.40 compared against a net budget of £35,000. 
 
6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [MR]

6.1 The Council has power under the Local Government Act 2000 to promote or improve 
the environmental well being of its area.

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.1 This report contributes to the following priorities of the Council; 

Places - Creating clean and attractive places to live and work

Prosperity- Encouraging growth, attracting businesses, improving skills and 
supporting regeneration.  

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 Consultations will take place on each project on an individual officer basis with parish 
councils and other interested parties. 

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks
Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner

Page 100



06/16

None identified

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Projects put forward in the Environmental Improvement Programme are generally 
spread over the whole of the Borough and includes the rural area.

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications- Yes, Improving lighting and the environment will 
contribute reducing the fear of crime and disorder

- Environmental implications– Yes, Protecting and enhancing the Borough’s 
Heritage

- ICT implications– None directly arising from this report
- Asset Management implications– None directly arising from this report
- Procurement implications– None directly arising from this report
- Human Resources implications– None directly arising from this report
- Planning implications– Permissions sought where required
- Data Protection implications– None directly arising from this report
- Voluntary Sector– Conservation volunteers used where appropriate on different 

schemes.

Background papers: None

Contact Officer: Daniel Britton, ext. 5872

Executive Member: Councillor M Surtees

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 - 2018/19 Environmental Improvement Programme

Location
Ward/Parish Scheme Remarks Gross Cost to

HBBC
Net Cost to

HBBC
Estimated Cost

of Project

Boroughwide
Project

Financial contributions for the Borough's
conservation areas towards the
rebuilding/provision of new stone
walls/iron railings, windows, the re-
roofing of properties with traditional
materials and the reinstatement of
chimney pots.

This project is  proving very successful in helping to retain /
provide traditional features in the Borough's conservation
areas and historic environment (Match funding by Parish
Council/Community) £15,000.00 £7,500.00 £15,000.00

Newbold Verdon Boundary Wall Improvement Contribution towards boundary wall improvements at St
James's Church Hall in the conservation area.

£2,000.00 £2,000.00 £4,000.00

Hinckley Heritage Trail The project working with Hinckley BID to update and print the
Hinckley heritage trail

£500.00 £500.00 £1,000.00

Twycross Blue Plaques The installation of two Blue Plaques to mark Molly Badham
and Nathalie Evans founders of Twycross Zoo

£500.00 £500.00 £500.00

Barwell Church Clock Contribution towards repair and restoration of St Marys
Church clock

£2,000.00 £2,000.00 £6,000.00

Hinckley Heritage Nameplates Working with the Hinckley Area Committee to install heritage
nameplates on a phased basis in Hinckley Town Centre
conservation area

£5,000.00 £5,000.00 £5,000.00

Desford Abutment Repairs Contribution towards abutment repairs to Desford Free
Church

£185.00 £185.00 £370.00

Hinckley Planting Infrastructure Working with Hinckley Museum to install planting
infrastructure around the museum and frontage
improvements (50% Museum contribution)

£2,000.00 £1,000.00 £2,000.00

Markfield Noticeboard Contribution to the Parish Council towards the installation of
two information noticeboards

£575.00 £575.00 £1,150.00

Burbage WW1 Commemorative Benches The Parish Council plan to install two WW1 commemorative
benches in the Conservation area

£887.90 £887.90 £1,775.80

Hinckley Brass Plaque Brass plaque to commemorate the presence of the United
States 82nd Airborne Division

£200.00 £200.00 £200.00

Stoke Golding Gravestone Repairs The Parish Council have identified final phase of gravestone
requiring repair in Hinckley Road Cemetery

£2,340.00 £2,340.00 £4,680.00

Hinckley Blue Plaques The installation of a Blue Plaque to mark Dr Myra King
Merrick (pioneering female doctor) and John Brooks (inventor
of the sprung bicycle saddle)

£500.00 £500.00 £500.00

Stanton Under
Bardon

Heritage Nameplates The parish council has designed a crest for inclusion on 15
heritage nameplates in Stanton Under Bardon (50% Parish
Council contribution)

£3,395.00 £1,697.50 £3,395.00

Ashby Canal Repairs to Bridge 48 and Bridge 57 Contribution towards the arch repairs to Bridge 48 Dakins
Bridge and works to Bridge 57 Green Lane Bridge

£5,000.00 £5,000.00 £40,000.00

Ratby Nameplaques Working with Ratby Local History Group to install
nameplaques to mark historic footpaths

£700.00 £700.00 £700.00

Hinckley Sporting Excellence Notice Boards The installation of two information/commemorative boards on
the subject of sporting excellence in the Borough working
with Cultural Services, Hinckley Museum and Hinckley
Archaeological Society

£4,000.00 £4,000.00 £4,000.00

Total Expenditure £44,782.90 £34,585.40 £90,270.80

P
age 103



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - End of year progress report on the Environmental Improvement Programme 2017-18
Location Scheme Remarks Status Project Cost

Markfield Installation of Larger 'Village
Trail' sign

The project involved the installation of a larger village trail sign. Project
Completed £261.00

Groby Allotments Wall Restoration Contribution towards the required repair of the allotments wall. Project
Ongoing £5,199.83

Hinckley Heritage Lighting This project involved the installation of an additional heritage
street light on Argents Mead

Project
Completed £1,659.22

Ashby Canal Repairs to Bridge 56 and Bridge
58

Contributions towards the materials to works towards missing
copings to Bridge 56 and repairs to Bridge 58.

Project
Completed £5,159.57

Stoke Golding St Margaret's Churchyard A contribution was made to restoring and levelling of the blue
brick pathway at St Margaret's Churchyard

Project
Completed

£1,560.00
Kirkby Mallory Ada Lovelace Plaque This project involved the installation of a Blue Plaque to mark

the childhood of Ade Lovelace at Kirkby Hall
Project
Completed £575.00

Hinckley Kings Head Yard This project involved the reinstatement of King Head Yard
hanging sign Hinckley

Project
Completed £125.00

Stoke Golding Gravestone repairs The Parish Council repaired gravestones in Hinckley Road
Cemetery.

Project
Completed £887.50

Earl Shilton Earl Shilton Town Trail The Earl Shilton Town Council project involved the design and
installation of noticeboard and production of heritage trail leaflets

Project
Ongoing

£2,052.50
Boroughwide Walls/Windows Contributions have been made to window restoration and

boundary walls that we at risk of being lost in conservation areas
Project
Completed

£4,248.85
Hinckley WW1 and WW2 Benches The project involved the installation of WW1 and WW2

commemorative bench within Hinckley War Memorial
Project
Completed £1,503.00

Bilstone Repairs to Gibbet Post The projects involves replacing the information board and
landscaping around the Gibbet Post, Bilstone

Project
Completed £1,178.50

Stoke Golding Crown Hill Information Board The project involves the installation of information boards at
Stoke Golding Marina on the events of Crown Hill during the
Battle of Bosworth.

Project
Completed

£1,510.00
Total £25,919.97

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



06/16

FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 24 MAY 2018
STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP TEAM 6 JUNE 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL PARISH WARDS

PARISH AND COMMUNITY INITIATIVE FUND ALLOCATION OF GRANTS 2018/2019

Report of Director of (Environment and Planning)

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To request the Scrutiny Commission endorses the allocation of the Parish and 
Community Initiative Fund 2018/19.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Scrutiny Commission endorses the funding allocations of £141,461 for 42 
schemes as detailed in section 3.3. 

2.2 That the Scrutiny Commission recommends to the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT) 
a further £8,539 being allocated to fund the applications as detailed in section 3.4.

2.3 That the Scrutiny Commission endorses the carry forward request of £15,563 
allowing 4 previous years scheme to be completed as described in 3.6.

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

3.1 Since 2005 the Parish Community Initiative Fund has distributed over £1,150,000 
towards 279 local parishes or voluntary organisation schemes. 

3.2 In 2017/18 the scheme received 55 applications from across the Borough and a total 
of £163,000 was awarded to 45 schemes.

3.2 Applications for 2018/19:

The table in Appendix 1 of this report provides an objective scoring summary from 
the assessments made of all the applications by the Green Space Team.
The assessment panel then determined which applications they felt should be 
awarded the allocated £150,000 grant fund. This panel consisted of Caroline Roffey 

Page 107

Agenda Item 12



06/16

Head of Street Scene Services, Ian Pinfold – Green Space Manager, Edwina Grant – 
Strategic and Community Planning Officer, Paul Scragg – Senior Green Space 
Officer, Susan Chambers Green Space Officer and Jackie Lee Public Space Officer.

The maximum amount of funding available to each Parish is £12,000.The grant will 
fund a maximum of 50% of the project costs. Each applicant must seek support from 
their Parish Council and Borough Councillor. Only capital items are funded, the 
lowest submitted quote has been used to calculate the maximum eligible grant, 
unless a good reason has been provided for using a higher quote.

50 applications have been received requesting a total of £222,954 (Total eligible 
funding based on 50% funding and a maximum of £12,000 per project requested was 
£188,296). 2 applications valuing £11,308 were withdrawn before they were 
assessed.

3.3 Based on the information in Appendix 1 the assessment panel recommends funding 
the following schemes totalling £141,461. (Applications are set out in alphabetical 
order by parish and parish name is given in brackets).

1. Conservation of Bagworth and Thornton’s natural assets - Bagworth and Thornton 
Parish Council (Bagworth and Thornton)
Outline: Conservation enhancement works at Thornton Meadow and Bagworth 
Community Orchard. £4,661

2. New Toilet and Baby Change Facility – Elohim Church (Barlestone)
Outline: Additional toilet with baby change facility at the Elohim community church. 
£4,750

3. Replace hedge with new fence – Barlestone Bowls Club (Barlestone)
Outline: The replacement of an old dying conifer hedge with a new security fence. 
£2,017

4. Car Park lighting at Bosworth Road Park – Barlestone Parish Council (Barlestone)
Outline: Lighting for the car park at the new community building at Bosworth Road 
playing fields. £1,837

5. New Footpath at Barwell Park – Barwell Parish Council (Barwell)
Outline: Construction of a new footpath to join existing footpath to the play area. 
£1,485

6. Resurface Footpaths at Barwell Park– Barwell Parish Council (Barwell)
Outline: Improvements to the existing footpaths at Barwell Park. £10,515

7. Landscaping at Burbage Methodist Church – Burbage Methodist Church (Burbage)
Outline: The new church and community building requires landscaping works to 
improve the outside space for its users. £5,500

8. The Horsepool refurbishment project – Burbage Parish Council (Burbage)
Outline: New site furniture and landscaping works to improve the Horsepool public 
open space. £6,500

9. Cadeby Church Hall restoration final phase – Cadeby Community Development Trust 
(Cadeby)
Outline: The replacement of 8 windows at the Church Hall. £3,087

Page 108



06/16

10. Carlton Speed Check Project – Carlton Parish Council (Carlton)
Outline: A new portable speed Indicator Device to be deployed in different locations 
within Carlton. £1,675

11. Conversion of clock to Autowind at St Andrew’s Church – Friends of St Andrew’s 
Church (Carlton)
Outline: The conversion of the manually wound clock to automatic winding, to 
prevent the need for difficult access by elderly residents. £4,570

12. Shed for Gardening Club – Gardening Club (Desford)
Outline: The installation of shed for storage of gardening tools. £100

13. Botcheston Village Hall Storage Unit – Botcheston Village Hall Committee (Desford)
Outline: Construction of a wooden Hut for the storage of Garden Furniture and other 
equipment. £887

14. Heating in the foyer – Sport in Desford (Desford)
Outline: An electric heater for the foyer area at Sport in Desford. £113

15. Athletic equipment and storage – Desford Striders (Desford)
Outline: Sports equipment for the children’s running club and a storage unit to keep it 
in. £351

16. Replacement of crockery – Desford Free Church (Desford)
Outline: The replacement of old diner plates and mugs for use by all users. £213

17. WW1 and WW2 Benches – Desford Parish Council (Desford)
Outline: The installation of 2 commemorative benches at the war memorial in 
Desford. £735

18. Central Heating System – Earl Shilton Baptist Church (Earl Shilton)
Outline: The installation of a new central heating system at the church to replace the 
current system which fails regularly. £12,000

19. Bridge on Groby meadow – Groby Community Interest Company (Groby)
Outline: The installation of a bridge to cross a new drainage ditch across Groby 
Meadow. £1,200

20. Marina Park play area refurbishment – Groby Parish Council (Groby)
Outline: The installation of new items of play equipment. £8,753

21. CCTV cameras at Ratby Road allotments – Groby Allotment Society (Groby)
Outline: The installation of CCTV cameras at the allotments to help prevent and deter 
vandalism and theft. £1,406

22. New pitch roller – Market Bosworth Cricket Club (Market Bosworth)
Outline: Replacement of the old sit on pitch roller, which is no longer in good working 
order. £875

23. Memorial Gardens Heritage Interpretation – Market Bosworth Parish Council (Market 
Bosworth)
Outline: The installation of 5 interpretive panels to explain the history of the gardens 
and to commemorate those who died in the 2 world wars. £5,606

Page 109



06/16

24. New dog bin – Market Bosworth Sports Club (Market Bosworth)
Outline: The installation of a new dog bin to be located at the sports club, to help with 
dog fouling issues at the site. £177

25. New play equipment and new safety surfacing – Markfield Parish Council (Markfield)
Outline: The replacement of 2 old pieces of play equipment and upgrading of the 
existing safety surfacing. £4,777

26. Refurbishment of heaters – All Saints Church (Nailstone)
Outline: The refurbishment of an electrical wall heater system for the community area 
and kitchen and toilet area. £940

27. Extension to car park – Newbold Verdon Parish Council (Newbold Verdon)
Outline: Extension to the car park at Alan’s Way recreation ground to accommodate 
extra parking for junior football clubs. £5,491

28. Church Hall disabled facilities project – Newbold Verdon PCC (Newbold Verdon)
Outline: The installation of a disabled toilet facility for community use at the church 
hall. £6,509

29. Improvements to Stapleton recreation ground – Peckleton Parish Council (Peckleton)
Outline: The installation of new children’s play equipment at the site. £2,500

30. New benches at Stapleton recreation ground – Peckleton Parish Council (Peckleton)
Outline: Additional benches for the site. £476

31. Safety surface improvements at Stapleton recreation ground – Peckleton Parish 
Council (Peckleton)
Outline: The replacement and improvement of the safety surfacing under the swings 
that currently doesn’t meet safety standards. £2,275

32. New Play equipment at Kirkby Mallory recreation ground – Peckleton Parish Council 
(Peckleton)
Outline: The installation of new play equipment at the site. £2,500

33. Village hall damp proofing and drainage improvements – Peckleton Parish Council
(Peckleton)
Outline: Improving air ventilation to improve damp issues and renew drainage at the 
village hall. £2,483

34. Structural building works – Ratby Parish Council (Ratby)
Outline: Urgent structural works to Ratby Parish Council Offices. £6,857

35. Servery and kitchen facilities – All Saints Church Sheepy Magna DCC (Sheepy)
Outline: Kitchen appliances for the new servery area at the church. £1,233

36. Replacement tables – Sheepy Memorial Hall (Sheepy)
Outline: Replacement of old tables with new lightweight aluminium style ones which 
are easier to use. £1,145

37. New play equipment – Stanton under Bardon Parish Council (Stanton under Bardon)
Outline: The installation of a zip wire at Stanton under Bardon recreation ground. 
£3,780

Page 110



06/16

38. South Charnwood 3G pitch project – South Charnwood High School (Stanton under 
Bardon)
Outline: The installation of a new 3G artificial grass pitch for use by the whole 
community. £8,220

39. Replacement Audio System – St Margaret’s PCC (Stoke Golding)
Outline: Replacement of the current unreliable audio system with a new up to date 
one. £2,512

40. Village Hall toilet improvements – Norton Juxta Twycross Village Institute Committee 
(Twycross)
Outline: Improvements to the toilets at the village hall. £750

41. Play area improvements – Twycross Parish Council (Twycross)
Outline: Installation of new play equipment at 2 play areas in Twycross and Norton 
Juxta Twycross. £2,500

42. St Edith’s Community Project – Orton DCC (Twycross)
Outline: Installation of new drains and soakaways to address ground level damp 
issues at St Edith’s Church. £7,500 

3.4 Funding the following schemes would exceed the £12,000 per parish limit however 
the panel felt they met the criteria and scored highly enough to be considered for the 
remaining £8,539 funding available. (Applications are set out in score order with 
highest scoring scheme first, parish name is given in brackets).

1. South Charnwood 3G pitch project – South Charnwood High School (Stanton under 
Bardon)
Outline: The installation of a new 3G artificial grass pitch for use by the whole 
community. £3,780 additional funding for this project. Score 63.

2. Extension to car park – Newbold Verdon Parish Council (Newbold Verdon)
Outline: Extension to the car park at Alan’s Way recreation ground to accommodate 
extra parking for junior football clubs. £1,351 additional funding for this project. Score 
58.5.

3. Temporary staging at village Hall – Stanton-under –Bardon Village Hall trust 
(Stanton-under-Bardon)
Outline: Temporary staging that can be used for concerts, plays etc and then stored 
when not needed. £1,572. Score 58.

4. Refurbishment of safety surfacing – Barwell Parish Council (Barwell) 
Outline: the replacement of the existing wet pour surface with a rubber mulch 
surface. £1,836 towards this scheme. Score 57.

3.5 The panel recommends rejecting the following applications which were the lowest 
scoring of the remaining schemes in parishes where funding has already met the 
£12,000 limit: (Applications are in score order highest first, parish name in brackets)

 
1. New safety surfacing area at Barwell Park – Barwell Parish Council (Barwell)

Outline: Replacing grass area in play area with rubber mulch. £8,345 requested. 
Score 54

2. New BMX track Barwell Park – Barwell parish Council (Barwell)

Page 111



06/16

Outline: To construct a new BMX track using top soil and grass seed at Barwell Park. 
£1,525 requested. Score 54

3. The installation of emergency exit lighting – Without Walls Christian Fellowship 
(Stanton-under-Bardon)
Outline: To supply and fit exit lighting to all routes out of the building. £1,175 
requested. Score 46

4. Replacement barge boards – Barwell Parish Council (Barwell)
Outline: Replacement barge boards for chapel roof in Barwell Cemetery. £3,187 
requested. Score 41.5

3.6 Previous Years Applications

There are 4 application totalling £15,563, which were approved in 2017 where the 
projects have been delayed. These projects will be completed in 2018/19. The 
projects are:

The Desford Tapestry £773
Outline: Equipment to assist with the production of a tapestry depicting the history 
and life of Desford.

Market Bosworth Memorial Gardens £2,790
Outline: The redesign and refurbishment of the Memorial Gardens as a community 
space to remember those who lost their lives in both world wars.

Surfacing of parking area and footpath in Witherley £4,980
Outline: The resurfacing of a grass area to create a hard standing parking area for 
visitors to the church and community facility in Fenny Drayton.

Kennel Lane Footpath Witherley £7,020
Outline: The creation of a section of footpath, within grass area, to improve safety 
along Kennel Lane in Witherley.

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 This report will be taken in open session.

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [CS]

5.1 For 2018/19, within the existing capital programme there is £150,000 set aside for 
schemes outlined in 3.3. The approved schemes total £141,461 which will leave an 
uncommitted balance of £8,539 for further schemes outlined in 3.4.

5.2 A carry forward request for £15,563 will be made as part of the year end outturn 
process for the delayed projects mentioned in 3.6. These schemes will be completed 
in 2018/19.

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [AR]

6.1      The Council has a wide power within section 2 of the Local Government Act 
2000.This is known as the ‘well being power’ and seeks to promote or improve the 
economic, social, and environmental well being of the Council’s area. The statutory 
power includes providing financial assistance to achieve this purpose.

Page 112



06/16

6.2 In addition to the ‘well being power’ the Council is also able to utilise the General 
Power of Competence under the Localism Act 2011. This represents a more recent 
statutory power and further strengthens the ability of the Council to provide financial 
assistance as set out within this report.

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.1 The Parish & Community Initiative fund supports parishes and community groups to 
achieve the following aims and objectives of the Corporate Performance Plan:

- Creating a vibrant place to work and live
- Empowering Communities
- Providing value for money and pro-active services

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 Scrutiny Commission is consulted as part of the decision to agree grant applications.

8.2 Parish Councils and other applicants have previously been consulted on this funding 
scheme.

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks
Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner
The projects rely on third party delivery 
and there is therefore a risk that some 
of the projects may not be delivered

Only projects that are likely 
to be completed in the 
following 12 months are 
recommended for funding

Paul 
Scragg

Certain projects have conditions 
attached.

Applicants are required to 
meet condition, before final 
grant is awarded.

Paul 
Scragg

Misuse of funds Funding for projects is only 
released once scheme is 
completed and evidence of 
completion and payment of 
the works is received.

Paul 
Scragg

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

Page 113



06/16

10.1 All grants are awarded to the rural areas, and parish council support is sought for 
each application.

10.2 Equalities issues are considered as part of the assessment process.

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers: Appendix 1 attached

Contact Officer: Paul Scragg - Senior Green Space Officer x5983
Executive Member: Cllr K Morrell – Executive Member for Rural Issues

Page 114



06/16

Appendix 1

Name of Scheme Parish
Maximum Eligible 
Grant

Total Cost of 
Scheme

Amount of Grant 
applied For

Assess
ed by Score 1 Score 2

Average 
Score

Recommend 
Funding 
amount Parish Total

Assessors Comments

Conservation of 
Bagworth & Thornton's 
Natural Assets

Bagworth & 
Thornton  £4,661.50  £9,323.00  £ 4,661.50 PS/IP 65 56 60.5 £4,661.00 £4,661.00

To include cost of stakes 
and binders - £2,095

New Toilet & Baby 
Change Facility, 
Elohim Church Barlestone  £4,750  £ 9,593.00  £4,750.00  SC/JL 61 67 64 £4,750.00  

3 years since last funded

Replace Bowls Club 
Perimeter Hedge with 
New Fence Barlestone  £ 2,016.70  £4,033.40  £2,016.70  IP/JL 51 50 50.5 £2,017.00  

Work in kind carried out 
by ground care

Install Car Park 
Lighting, Bosworth 
Road Park & 
Community Centre Barlestone  £1,837.50  £ 3,675.00  £1,837.50 PS/JL 56 59 57.5 £1,837.00 £8,604.00

Planning permission 
required

Refurbish Safety Play 
Surface - Kirkby Rec Barwell  £6,475.00  £12,950.00  £16,690.00  SC/JL 58 56 57 £1,836  

Barwell Park - New 
Footpath Barwell  £1,485.00  £2,970.00  £1,485.00  SC/JL 59 56 57.5 £1,485  
Barwell Cemetery 
Replacement Barge 
Boards Barwell  £3,187.50  £6,375.00  £3,187.00  SC/JL 41 42 41.5 £0.00  

Recommend for rejection

Resurface Footpaths - 
Play Park & Skate Park Barwell  £10,700.00  £21,400.00  £21,400.00  SC/JL 62 54 58 £10,515  

New Safety Play Area 
Surface - Barwell Park Barwell  £8,345.00  £16,690.00  £16,690.00  SC/JL 58 50 54 £0.00  

Recommend for rejection

Barwell Park - New 
BMX Track (Tweed 
River) Barwell  £1,525.00 £3,050.00  £1,525.00  SC/JL 56 52 54 £0.00 £12,000.00

Recommend for rejection

Landscaping at 
Burbage Methodist 
Church Burbage  £5,997.92 

          
£11,995.84  £ 5,997.92  JL/IP 64 43 53.5 £5,500.00  

Is this a condition of their 
planning permission

The Horsepool 
Refurbishment Project Burbage  £6,500.00 

          
£13,000.00  £12,000.00  PS/IP 63 62 62.5 £6,500.00 £12,000.00

Subject to receiving 
necessary quotes. Prices 
based on landscape 
architect estimates.

P
age 115



06/16

Cadeby Church Hall 
Restoration - Final 
Phase

Cadeby  £ 3,087.00  £ 6,174.00  £ 3,087.00  PS/IP 65 61 63 £3,087.00 £3,087.00 12k limit reached for this 
project but only facility 
within Cadeby

Carlton Speed Check 
Project

Carlton  £1,832.50  £ 3,665.00  £1,675.00  SC/PS 61 62 61.5 £1,675.00  Preferred LCC supplier 
used

Conversion of Clock to 
Autowind - St Andrew's 
Church

Carlton  £ 4,570.00  £  9,140.00  £ 4,570.00  IP/SC 49 47 48 £4,570.00 £6,245.00 Only 1 quote available. 
Subject to confirmation 
of match funding.

Shed Desford  £ 110.00  £ 219.99  £ 110.00  IP/SC 48 46 47 £100.00  Don't currently meet 
essential criteria. Need 
to get a constitution. 
Voluntary group

Botcheston Village Hall 
Storage Hut

Desford  £ 886.88  £1,773.75  £ 886.88  JL/SC 44 41 42.5 £887.00  

Heating the Foyer at 
SiD

Desford  £113.38  £ 226.75  £ 113.38  JL/IP 63 54 58.5 £113.00  

Athletics Equipment & 
Storage

Desford  £351.04  £ 702.08  £ 351.04 IP/PS 55 61 58 £351.00  Desford Striders 
athletics club.

Replacement of 
Crockery

Desford  £ 213.00  £ 426.00  £213.00 SC/IP 35 30 32.5 £213.00  

WW1 And WW2 
Benches

Desford  £735.00  £ 1,470.00  £ 882.00 PS/IP 44 44 44 £735.00 £2,399.00 Only 1 quote offered.

E.S.B.C. Central 
Heating System

Earl 
Shilton

 £12,0000  £ 32,145.54  £12,000.00 IP/PS 61 57 59 £12,000.00 £12,000.00 Still require 3rd quote

Bridge on Groby 
Meadow

Groby  £1,200.00  £ 2,400.00  £1,200.00  IP/PS 41 41 41 £1,200.00  Needs approval from 
LCC and STW. Design 
not finalised. Quotes 
needed

Marina Park 
Refurbishment

Groby  £8,753.10  £17,506.20  £ 8,753.00  IP/PS 72 70 71 £8,753.00  

Installation of CCTV 
Cameras to Overlook 
Ratby Road Allotment 
Site

Groby  £ 1,405.66  £ 2,811.31  £2,812.00 IP/PS 42 45 43.5 £1,406.00 £11,359.00 Subject to relevant 
landowner permission 
from adjacent properties 
to mount cameras

New Pitch Roller, 
Market Bosworth 
Cricket Club

Market 
Bosworth

 £ 875.00  £ 1,750.00  £ 875.00  PS/JL 45 53 49 £875.00  Second hand - probably 
already purchased

Memorial Gardens 
Heritage Interpretation

Market 
Bosworth

 £ 5,606.00  £ 11,212.00  £ 5,606.00  PS/IP 67 62 64.5 £5,606.00  

"Clean up the Path", 
Market Bosworth Sports 
Club

Market 
Bosworth

 £176.73  £ 353.45  £ 353.45  PS/JL 44 45 44.5 £177.00 £6,658.00 Can HBBC provide? 
How are they going to 
dispose of waste?

Upgrade existing play 
surfacing & supply & 
install 2 new pieces of 
equipment

Markfield  £4,777.00  £ 9,554.00  £4,777.00  PS/JL 70 69 69.5 £4,777.00 £4,777.00 Already funding site 
through the DCF fund, 
but play area is not 
within this bid.

P
age 116



06/16

Refurbishment of 
Heaters - All Saints 
Church

Nailstone  £ 1,156.00  £ 2,312.00  £1,156.00 IP/PS 62 54 58 £940.00 £940.00 Lowest quote used

Extension to car parking 
facilities at Alan's Way 
Recreation Ground

Newbold 
Verdon

 £ 6,842.25  £13,684.50  £6,842.25  JL/PS 63 54 58.5 £6,842  Need second quote

Newbold Verdon 
Church Hall Disabled 
Facilities Project

Newbold 
Verdon

 £7,058.00  £ 14,116.00  £7,058.00  PS/SC 71 74 72.5 £6,509.00 £12,000.00 lowest quote used

New Benches at 
Stapleton Recreation 
Ground

Peckleton  £ 476.60  £953.19  £ 476.69  JL/SC 54 49 51.5 £476.00  

Stapleton Recreation 
Ground Swing Safety 
Surface Improvements

Peckleton  £ 2,275.13  £4,550.25  £ 2,275.12  JL/SC 56 64 60 £2,275.00  

Stapleton Recreation 
Ground Improvements

Peckleton  £ 2,500.00  £ 5,000.00  £ 2,500.00  JL/SC 62 68 65 £2,500.00  

Kirkby Mallory 
Recreation Ground 
Improvements - New 
Play Equipment

Peckleton  £ 2,500.00  £ 5,000.00  £2,500.00  JL/SC 63 70 66.5 £2,500.00  

Peckleton Village Hall 
Damp Proofing & 
Drainage Improvements

Peckleton  £ 2,483.33  £ 4,966.66  £ 2,483.33  JL/SC 71 62 66.5 £2,483.00 £10,234.00 Need permission for 
sewer connection

Office - Urgent 
Structural Works

Ratby  £ 6,857.50  £ 13,715.00  £9,000.00  PS/IP 52 52 52 £6,857.00 £6,857.00 Subject to Building regs 
required?

Servery & Kitchen 
Facilities, All Saints 
Church

Sheepy  £1,232.59  £ 2,465.17  £1,232.58  JL/SC 64 61 62.5 £1,233.00  Has had DCF funding. 
New sound system 
funded last year

Bonfire Party & 
Christmas Lights

Sheepy  £ 6,958.00  £13,916.00  £ 5,001.94  PS/IP 50 51 50.5 APPLICATION 
WITHDRAWN

 

Replacement Tables Sheepy  £1,144.73  £ 2,289.46  £1,144.00  SC/JL 54 53 53.5 £1,145.00 £2,378.00 rejected last year

Stanton-under-Bardon 
Village Hall 
Procurement Fund

Stanton-
under-
Bardon

 £1,887.00  £3,774.00  £ 1,572.50  JL/SC 65 51 58  £1,572  Moveable Stage in 
Village Hall for play 
scheme.

Supply & Fit Emergency 
Exit Illuminated Lighting

Stanton-
under-
Bardon

 £1,175.00  £2,350.00  £ 1,175.00  SC/PS 44 48 46  0.00  Recommend for 
rejection

Play Equipment for the 
Recreation Ground

Stanton-
under-
Bardon

 £ 5,147.05  £ 10,294.10  £ 5,147.00  SC/IP 75 75 75 £3,780.00  Also funded with S106 
money. Based on lowest 
quote

South Charnwood 3G 
Pitch Project

Stanton-
under-
Bardon

 £12,000  £ 715,643.91  £ 12,000.00  PS/IP 63 63 63 £12,000 £12,000.00 Open to all users. 
Football Foundation 
main funder. Awaiting 
confirmation of funding.

Replacement Audio 
System & Installation of 
Hearing Loop - St 
Margaret's Church

Stoke 
Golding

 £ 2,512.15  £ 5,024.29  £ 3,014.00  JL/SC 74 61 67.5 £2,512.00 £2,512.00 Needs faculty consent

P
age 117



06/16

Repointing of Church 
Tower Brickwork

Sutton 
Cheney

 £4,350.00  £8,700.00  £  4,350.00     APPLICATION 
WITHDRAWN

 

Village Hall Toilet 
Improvements -Norton 
Juxta Twycross

Twycross  £750  £1500  £750  IP/PS 52 55 53.5 £750  Hard copies of quotes 
still required.

Play Area 
Improvements

Twycross  £ 2,771.00  £5,542.00  £ 2,771.00  IP/PS 73 63 68 £2,500.00  2 different play areas. 
lowest quotes used.

St Edith's Community 
Project - Phase 1

Twycross  £ 12,000.00  £ 30,000.00  £ 10,000.00  IP/PS 53 47 50 £7,500.00 £12,000.00 1 further Quote and 
faculty needed. 

P
age 118



06/16
Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



06/16

FORWARD TIMETABLE OF CONSULTATION AND DECISION MAKING

Scrutiny Commission 24 May 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS’

Procurement of Council Fleet

Report of Director (Environment and Planning) 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To update Scrutiny on the procurement of the council’s fleet following report to 
Council in July 2017

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 Scrutiny note the report

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

3.1 The report to Council in July 2017 identified that the replacement of the council’s fleet 
of vehicles for the streetscene, environmental health and housing repairs services 
was due in April 2018 with the expiry of the existing Specialist Fleet Services (SFS)  
lease.  In addition the fleet was to increase from the bringing in-house of the dry 
recycling service, additional refuse rounds from increasing housing numbers and 
additional trade refuse rounds. It advised that the Council’s financial advisors had 
suggested reviewing if purchase of the vehicles offered a better financial return due 
to the council’s low interest rates for capital borrowing. Estimated values were 
reported to Council to obtain agreement for the allocation of capital. 

Council agreed:

(i) Procurement of the vehicle fleet and the associated supplementary budgets as 
follows, be approved:

(a)  A supplementary capital budget of £3,855,500 for fleet and equipment 
procurement;

Page 121

Agenda Item 13

http://intranet/branding/Printlogo/B%20and%20W%20HBBC%20logo%202017.jpg


06/16

(b)  A supplementary capital budget of £82,100 for the procurement of 
retained vehicles which is to be funded from the grounds machinery 
reserve;

(c)  A supplementary revenue budget of £609,004 for the annual financing 
cost which will replace the current revenue budget of £396,000;

 (d)  An increase in the council’s capital financing requirement of £3,855,500 
to allow the purchase.

 (ii)           The decision on purchase and/or lease of fleet and equipment be delegated 
to the relevant officer in consultation with the Executive Member for Neighbourhood 
Services

3.2 Link Asset Services, our financial advisors, were engaged to carry the evaluation of 
these options.  A thorough review by officers of their requirements and identification 
of any suitable vehicles to be retained through purchase was carried out. Link then 
carried out two OJU compliant tenders for the “Heavies” –Refuse Collection Vehicles, 
HGVs and the “Lights” - vans, box vans and pick ups etc. From the returned tenders 
it calculated from knowledge of manufacturer prices and discounts the likely 
purchase prices and costs of maintenance, sundries and fleet supervision. 

3.3 The procurement costs of the vehicles, and notes on some of the pressures are 
included in tables below. These tables give the comparison to the budgets as agreed 
in July 2017. The procurement of the fleet also assumes the services remain in 
house, along with the bringing in house of the dry recycling service and trade waste, 
which requires 5 additional refuse collection vehicles. The report in July noted that it 
did not include the costs of maintenance.

3.3.1 The capital costs associated with the purchase and contract hire options are:

 Vehicles Grounds 
Machinery 

Total

Capital cost £3,826,136 £202,345 £4,028,481
Less residual value -£304,795 -£10,000 -£314,795
Total capital costs £3,521,341 £192,345 £3,713,686

*internal estimate

This is £141,814 (3.68%) below the approved capital budget of £3,855,500 agreed by 
full July council.

3.3.2 The revenue costs associated with the purchase and contract hire options are:

Final Position Capital Costs Maintenance Total annual 
cost

Contract Hire £ £ £
HGV/Specialist 432,054 231,632 663,686
LCV/Grounds 179,538 46,596 226,134
Total 611,592 278,228 889,820
Purchase £ £ £

Page 122



06/16

HGV/Specialist 450,423 358,047 808,470
LCV/Grounds 187,613 155,098 342,711
Total 638,036 513,145 1,151,181
    
Savings to the GF using 
hire purchase compared 
to Purchase

-26,443 -234,917 -261,361

3.3.2 This gives a best option for contract hire, which is £2,588 higher than the approved 
budget. This was discussed with the Leader of the Council and the Executive Lead 
for Neighbourhood Services, and it was agreed to move forward with the 
procurement based on the lowest cost option.

3.3.3 Note, this does not include grounds machinery, which is being purchased out of 
reserves and is not part of the contract hire agreement or the comparative purchase 
information above. This was because a hire contract was not available for such 
equipment with maintenance and did not offer a better position than purchase. 
Reserves of £200,000 will be used for this purpose and as such it will not have an 
annual revenue impact for capital costs, but does have maintenance of 
approximately £35,000 per year. There will be no increase in the current grounds 
equipment maintenance budget due to the purchase decision.  

3.3.4 The Comparison above does not include:

 Road Fund Licence costs, the purchase of vehicle would require the council to pay 
road tax annually after the first year of £22,915, which is avoided if hire contract 
option is used. 

 Fleet Manager costs, the purchase of the new fleet if managed in house directly 
would require a fleet manager, with estimated costs of £50,000 per year, which is not 
required under the contract hire option.

3.3.5 The vehicles have a maintenance cost associated with them, that was not given in 
the Council report of July 2017. If purchased it was noted this would be subject to a 
separate procurement of a maintenance contract. The procurement exercise, 
indicated that there was no viable proposal for this based on the size of fleet being 
acquired. Our current costs of maintenance, prior to the increase in the size of the 
fleet to meet new demands, is £396,738, and is estimated to be £513,145, after 
allowance is made for increases in the size of the fleet. This has been used to 
compare to the contract hire maintenance costs contained in the tender exercise. 
The table above notes that the hire contract option gives savings of 
£261,261compared to the overall expected costs for purchase. It is also lower than 
the previous maintenance costs incurred for 2017/18 of £396,738.02

3.3.4 This evaluation demonstrated that contract hire purchase was the lower cost option, 
with the exception of the grounds equipment, which has been purchased out of 
reserves. This evaluation also showed that it was actually preferable with lower risk 
to continue to lease the vehicles but with the repeat capital purchase of the grounds 
equipment. This is because maintenance costs are fixed irrespective of the actual 
costs of the work in individual vehicles and therefore the risk is borne by the hire 
company 

3.4 Further detailed determination of the specifications for vehicles including further 
identification of retained vehicles from the current lease was carried out. This has 

Page 123



06/16

allowed increased payloads for housing repairs and the cleansing service on their 
vehicles which should increase efficiency in working. Several RCVs have been 
retained at no capital cost through Repairs and Maintenance agreements with SFS 
allowing spare vehicles to provide additional and emergency cover. The Telehandler 
already owned by HBBC will similarly continue under R&M. The full list of vehicles is 
given at Appendix 1.  The necessary changes to the council’s Operator Licence for 
Jubilee Buildings are being made.

Comparison with the previous contract hire rates shows interesting outcomes with 
RCVs increasing in cost by around 8% over the seven and half years, whilst Housing 
repairs have increased the size of vans whilst reducing their cost. Sweepers have 
increased significantly ~25% reflecting the high cost of maintenance of such vehicles.

 3.5 Following the agreement of the Leader and Lead Member for Streetscene Services 
contracts for the agreed new fleet of 67 vehicles have been signed with SFS for the 
“Heavies” and with Leaseplan Ltd for the “Lights”.  SFS will continue to service their 
vehicles on site at Jubilee Building whilst the Lights will be serviced through Paynes 
Garage Ltd on behalf of Leaseplan, a short distance from the site. 

3.6 Due to the long lead times for some specialist vehicles, it was agreed with the Lead 
Member to extend the existing SFS contract for the current fleet to 1 September 
2018.  Extension prices were negotiated with SFS and were agreed at approximately 
15% lower than the current seven year old contract rate. Spot hires for the additional 
5 RCVs to implement the new in house dry recycling service were similarly 
negotiated.  These vehicles are to be replaced at the same time as the full fleet 
replacement on 1 September 2018.  This deferred fleet change date also avoids the 
significant work on the Streetscene service from bringing dry recycling in-house in 
April 2018 and also the round changes from June 2018. 

Costs for the extensions of the fleet until 1 September 2018 are as below:

3.7 Grounds maintenance equipment has been tendered through the ESPO framework 
and renewal of the equipment at £202,344.50 well within the identified budget of 
£250,000.  This equipment has been ordered and will have been delivered in time for 
the summer season.

Revised rate 
to 1 Sept 2018

2011 contract 
rate equivalent

Cleansing £28,062.00 £31,173.33

Waste £127,635.00 £150,884.17

Green Spaces £20,862.00 £23,180.00

Housing Repairs £30,254.00 £38,032.50

Env Health £1,239.00 £1,375.83

£208,052.00 £244,645.83

Page 124



06/16

3.8 Discussions over the greening of the fleet through new technology low carbon 
vehicles were undertaken with Link and their advice was that vehicles with the 
required payloads etc. were not currently sufficiently advanced to recommend at the 
current time. Their advice was that when the fleet is due for renewal, the market 
would have matured substantially and could be considered at that time.  Currently 
such vehicles are significantly higher purchase cost which would increase costs 
overall. The operation of the fleet is highly dependant on officers, particularly in the 
housing repairs service, taking vehicles home and that would not facilitate electric 
charging. The depot is currently set up for diesel and the new fleet will be Euro 6 
standard which are significantly cleaner running than the current vehicles and 
therefore emissions will be lower.

4. EXEMPTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE ACCESS TO INFORMATION 
PROCEDURE RULES

4.1 Open session

5. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [AW]

5.1 The financial implications in relation to the option appraisal are noted in the body of 
the report, but are summarised in the table below.

 

5.2 The table indicates that Contract Hire is a lower annual cost to the Council compared 
with  the purchase option. This is based on a seven-year life cycle. This assumes the 

Description
Capital Budget approved £3,855,500
Capital budget obtained £3,713,686
Lower than approved -£141,814

Revenue Budget approved £609,004
Revenue Budget of Contract Hire £611,592
Higher than approved £2,588

Maintenance costs incurred "Old Fleet" £396,738
Maintenance costs Contract Hire £278,228
Lower than prior budgeted amount -£118,510

Annual cost if purchased £1,151,181
Road Tax £22,915
Fleet Manager (estimate) £50,000
Sub-total £1,224,096
Annual cost of hire purchase £889,820
Saving of Contract Hire compared to purchase -£334,276

Amounts budgeted for in MTFS £628,040
Final Option costs £611,592
Saving on MTFS position -£16,448

Page 125



06/16

Contract Hire can be extended, if needed, on light vehicles for an additional two 
years at the same rates. Waste Vehicles are on contract hire for seven years under 
the agreement.

6. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [AR]

6.1 As set out within the body of this report, and specifically paragraph 3.7, there are 
ongoing procurement requirements. This is to ensure the Council discharges its 
obligations in accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015.

7. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

7.1 Through the provision of the fleet the following aims are delivered by the service 
areas.

o Keep our borough clean and green
o Protect and improve our parks and open spaces for everyone across the 

borough
o Improve the quality of existing homes and enable the delivery of affordable 

housing
o We will reduce our impact on the environment by cutting waste and

encouraging recycling

8. CONSULTATION

8.1 The Leader and Lead Member for Neighbourhood Services were consulted and 
agreed key actions when required.

9. RISK IMPLICATIONS

9.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

9.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

9.3 The following significant risks associated with this report / decisions were identified 
from this assessment:]

Management of significant (Net Red) Risks
Risk Description Mitigating actions Owner
Delays in the provision of the new fleet 
impacting on service delivery.

Retention of existing fleet 
through negotiation.

Rob 
Parkinson

10. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The council’s fleet enable the delivery of many of the front line service to the public 
across the whole borough. The new vehicles will provide more reliable services 
including the simplification of dry recycling and the use of new in-cab technology 
which will benefit users included those on assisted collections through direct 
information exchange.

Page 126



06/16

11. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

11.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers: Vehicle Procurement Project 

Contact Officer: Rob Parkinson Director (Environment and Planning) ext. 5641
Executive Member: Councillor M Nickerson

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 FULL LIST OF VEHICLES ORDERED

RCV – Refuse Collection Vehicle Retention 
Period 

Vehicles 
ordered

 -Large Sweeper, Scarab Magnum 7 years 1

 - Small sweeper, Scarab M25H Integrated Compact Sweeper 7 years 1

 - 18T DAF LF55 with Multilift Hookloader 7 years 1

 - RCV, spec A Dennis-Eagle Elite 6 6 x 2 Mid Lift - Standard Width with OL21W 
Body and OmniDEL XTRA Lift 

7 years 5

 - RCV, spec B Dennis-Eagle Elite 6 6 x 2 Mid Lift - NARROW WIDTH with OL19N 
Body and OmniDEL XTRA Lift 

7 years 6

 - RCV, spec C Dennis-Eagle Elite 6 6 x 2 Mid Lift - NARROW WIDTH with OL19N 
Body and OmniDEL XTRA Lift 

7 years 4

 - RCV, spec D Dennis-Eagle Elite 6 6 x 2 Mid Lift - NARROW WIDTH with OL19N 
Body and OmniDEL XTRA Lift 

7 years 1

 - 7.5t Box Van DAF LF180 FA 4 x 2 Chassis with J C Payne GRP Box Bodywork 7 years 2

 - Transit 3.5 2.0-170ps Base C/C L3 5 years 7

 - Transit 3.5 2.0-170ps Base C/C L3 5 years 1

 - Transit 4.7 2.0-170ps Base C/C L3 5 years 1

Type E - MITSUBISHI L200 D/CAB 18 2.4D 4LIFE 5 years 1

 - Custom MCA 300 Base L1H1 DCIV 5 years 1

 - Custom MCA 2.0 105ps 320 Base L1H1 5 years 1

 - Transit 3.5 2.0-130ps Base C/C L2 5 years 4

 - Transit 4.7 2.0-130ps Base C/C L3 5 years 2

 - Connect 1.5 Powershift Base 100ps 5 years 1

 - Ford Fiesta Zetec  5dr 1.5 TDCi 85PS Start/Stop, Frozen White 5 years 4

 - Custom MCA 2.0 105ps 320 Base L1H1 5 years 14

 - Custom MCA 2.0 130ps 340 Base L2H2 5 years 6

 - Transit 3.5 2.0-130ps Base C/C L2 5 years 2

 - Ford Connect 1.5 75ps Base L2 5 years 1

Retained Vehicles-   3 RCVs 2 Custom vans Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



06/16

SCRUTINY COMMISSION 24 MAY 2018

WARDS AFFECTED: ALL WARDS

Annual report for 2017/18 of achievements against the Corporate Plan 2017 - 2021

Report of the Monitoring Officer

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1 To seek the Scrutiny Commission’s approval of the annual report which summarises 
the main achievements for the financial year 2017/18 against the council’s Corporate 
Plan 2017 - 2021.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Scrutiny Commission reviews the annual summary of achievements 
attached as appendix 1 and approve for submission to Council on 12 June 2018

3. BACKGROUND TO THE REPORT

3.1 The Corporate Plan 2017 - 2021 which was approved and published in March 2017 
sets out the council’s vision to make Hinckley & Bosworth a place of opportunity and 
provides a road map to the council’s planned strategic achievements and targets.

3.2 The publication of the summary of achievements for 2017/21 provides a measure of 
performance of how the Corporate Plan is delivering on its vision and aims.

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS [IB]

4.1 None arising directly from this report.

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS [AR]

5.1 None arising from the report.

6. CORPORATE PLAN IMPLICATIONS

6.1 All Corporate aims

Page 131

Agenda Item 14



06/16

7. CONSULTATION

7.1 All Chief Officers and managers of Service Improvement Plans have been consulted 
and have contributed to the production of the summary of achievements. 

8. RISK IMPLICATIONS

8.1 It is the Council’s policy to proactively identify and manage significant risks which 
may prevent delivery of business objectives.

8.2 It is not possible to eliminate or manage all risks all of the time and risks will remain 
which have not been identified. However, it is the officer’s opinion based on the 
information available, that the significant risks associated with this decision / project 
have been identified, assessed and that controls are in place to manage them 
effectively.

9. KNOWING YOUR COMMUNITY – EQUALITY AND RURAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Equality and rural Implications are considered as part of delivering both the 
Corporate Plan and Service Improvement Plans.

10. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 By submitting this report, the report author has taken the following into account:

- Community Safety implications
- Environmental implications
- ICT implications
- Asset Management implications
- Procurement implications
- Human Resources implications
- Planning implications
- Data Protection implications
- Voluntary Sector

Background papers: None

Contact Officer: Cal Bellavia 
Tel 5795

Executive Member: Councillor A Wright

Page 132



Delivering our Corporate Plan
Performance Report 2017 - 2018

Welcome to Hinckley and Bosworth’s annual performance report. In this report we aim
to provide you with what we have achieved in line with our Corporate Plan Vision:

To make Hinckley & Bosworth  ‘A Place of Opportunity’

In order to achieve our vision, we have set out our priorities, goals and ambitions
and we have brought those priorities together under three clear headings:

1   People - Helping people to stay healthy, active and protected from harm

2   Places - Creating clean and attractive places to live and work

3   Prosperity - Encouraging growth, attracting businesses, improving  
skills and supporting regeneration

Page 133



1   People  

Achievements this year include:
HBBC domestic abuse outreach service has helped 118 victims of domestic abuse and worked with
57  children therapeutically who have witnessed domestic abuse.

The Community Safety Partnership has provided a Home Security Scheme for 41 vulnerable people.

The Community Safety Partnership has  delivered 9 campaigns to increase reporting, reduce seasonal
crime and tackle emerging threats.

The Community Safety Team has delivered a wealth of prevention and awareness work with 1800
young people including work on anti-social behaviour, personal safety, cyber bullying, healthy
relationships and drugs and alcohol.

The Endeavour Team have proactively used anti-social behaviour legislation (Anti-social Behaviour,
Crime and Policing Act 2014) to effectively tackle anti-social behaviour and protect vulnerable victims.
The Endeavour Team have issued 3 closure orders, 58 community protection notices, 2 injunctions,  

5 anti-social behaviour contracts, 3 Notice Seeking Possessions for ASB and 2 evictions for ASB.

HBBC has acted as a district lead on the force wide Cyber Crime Control Panel. We have delivered a
cyber campaign and cyber awareness training to over 200 staff and local partners.

The Community Safety Partnership has actively worked to increase its promotion of services and
achievements including an increase in Borough Bulletin Articles, increased use of social media and
production of a three yearly Community Safety Partnership E-Newsletter.

The Community Safety Team has consulted with approximately 800 young people in high schools
about what their community safety priorities are so as to better understand and respond to the needs
of young people.

Prevention Strategy developed to help to coordinate and evidence the wealth of prevention work we
do as a local authority.

Domestic Abuse Workplace Policy developed and in place to ensure appropriate support for
employees who are affected by domestic abuse.

Improved information sharing processes put in place between Endeavour Team and schools. 

Support and signposting for all tenants in receipt of Universal Credit to promote and encourage
tenancy sustainment.

Home fire safety check and referral process to Leicestershire Fire and Rescue Service in place for all
new tenants to ensure that preventative advice is given and potential fire risks are mitigated.

Held a range of community events in June 2017 in support of the national initiative ‘Remembering MP
Jo Cox’ including: a Community Relations Forum, Event hosted by Community Houses staff and
volunteers, and a VCS Development Forum, all under the theme of ‘we have more that unites us than 

divides us’.

Page 134



Delivery of the Annual Making a Difference Awards, on 16th June 2017, to recognise and value those
who make a difference to the lives of others through volunteering.

Allocation of £70,000, via our Voluntary and Community Sector (VCS) commissioning arrangements,
to support a broad range of front line service provision across the Borough, and a VCS/Community
Safety pilot project, totalling an allocation of £250,000 since the introduction of our commissioning
arrangements in 2013.

Investment in existing Control Centre infrastructure and successful relocation of the Control Centre to
more modern spacious facilities in Burbage, offering improved working environment for staff
delivering support services to vulnerable people.

Provided over £3,000 in grants to residents groups to purchase equipment to support social activities
and outings.  

Supported local residents with grant of £2000 a to set up Garden Buddies for IT and projects which
has included the transformation of a overgrown piece of ground in The Meadows, Burbage into a
community allotment. Garden Buddies have gone on to source additional grant funding to support
other projects including the transformation of the Herford Way Community Centre.          

The borough council has increased its use of social media to communicate with residents, listen to
their views and promote events and other initiatives.  Facebook ‘likes’ have increased by 61% in the
last year and now number in excess of 3,000 people. HBBC has more Facebook page likes and so
better ‘reach’ than any other district council in Leicestershire.  Since 57 events were added to
Facebook in January 2018 247,544 people have seen one of our events in their newsfeed and 6,710
people have responded to date.

We gained four out of four stars in the annual website audit, Better Connected 2016/17 making the
HBBC website one of the top websites in the country. In the last five years, only two shire district
councils and only nine councils in total (out of 418) have received overall higher star rankings. We aim
to provide a modern, fit-for-purpose council website by following national best practice and by
prioritising feedback from our customers.

Dog warden service was awarded the highest possible accolade of 'golden footprint' award for the
6th year running.

Preparation of a revised Statement of Community Involvement to ensure communities and
stakeholders are kept informed about planning and how to engage in the planning process.

HBBC’s nomination for volunteer Denise Larrad won the national BBC Sports Personality Unsung Hero
award 2017.

Snap Dragon children and family festival (including National Play Day) hugely successful nine day
event comprising four events in rural locations and five in Hinckley town centre.

More than 30 exciting family events held, including the fabulous Hinckley Feast resulting in a 25%
increase in visitor numbers to the town centre.

Implemented a new service for providing integrated housing support to enable people to live
healthy in their homes.

594 Noise complaints investigated.

Page 135



2   Places  

Achievements this year include:
In partnership with Leicestershire County Council, who was awarded £20,000 to run a Waste Less, Save
More project, the community houses have set up and are running community kitchens in the 3 areas.

Since the launch of Leicestershire Rural Watch in early 2016 it has continued to gain strength in our
area this year and the membership for the area of Hinckley is now 96 and growing.  On the voluntary
front we are now working in partnership with Leicestershire Horse Watch and Heritage Watch. 

Pro- active multi agency patch walks in areas of high crime and ASB to effectively tackle local issues
and improve resident safety and satisfaction. 

Production of a delivery plan for both Barwell and Earl Shilton  setting out the regeneration ambitions
for each, each document was circulated to households in these areas and is available on line areas.

A programme of 10 Environmental Improvement Schemes to enhance the built environment. These
continue the practice to implement schemes identified in the Authority’s Conservation Area
Management Plan Reviews and provide a good distribution of projects throughout the borough, both  

in the urban and rural areas. 

Carried out a tenant’s satisfaction survey which reported improved satisfaction in almost every area 
of the housing service. Highlights include:
- 35% increase in satisfaction in the way the Council listens to tenants views and acts on them
- 14% increase in satisfaction with the overall quality of homes
- 20% increase in overall satisfaction with the housing repairs service

High take up of garden waste collection service ensuring the council maintains a high recycling rate 

Service changes agreed for refuse and recycling collections (to be implemented in 2018). Includes a
change to a fully co-mingled dry recycling collection system, an extra refuse collection round and a
new trade waste collection round.

147 paid fixed penalty notices for environmental crime (littering, fly tipping, dog fouling etc). This is
nearly three times the number paid in 2016/17.

Successful campaigns for littering and dog fouling , 47 community litter picks and 157 litter volunteers
(50 new ones this year).  

2 green flags (including Argents Mead for the first time).  

Extra children’s play equipment at Argents Mead and a new fountain
Improvements to Langdale Park, Richmond Park and Queens Park including pay equipment, paths,
and new entrances.

Commenced the delivery of a 9 bungalow new build scheme in Groby.

Page 136



Completed the Planned Investment Programme including;

- 155 complete kitchen renewals
- 247 replacement boilers, of which some of these will be to homes that are also to benefit from 

complete Central Heating system upgrades 
- renewal of a communal boiler in one of our sheltered schemes
- re-covering 28 roofs
- 104 bathroom replacements
- new windows to approximately 44 homes
- new external doors to 55 homes
- rewiring of 65 properties 
- testing of over 500 electrical installations 

Preparation of the Local Plan Review document for public consultation with communities and
stakeholders between Jan and March 2018.

Work in partnership with neighbouring authorities across Leicestershire to prepare a Strategic Growth
Plan.

Preparation of up to date Employment Sites and Premises Study to provide detailed local information
about the borough’s supply of employment land and opportunities for growth and sector
development.

Hinckley Town Centre voted as the Best Market Town in Leicestershire Tourism awards.

Desford Lawn Tennis Club won the ‘Leicestershire Tennis Award’ for Disability Project of the Year 2017.

Completion of largest council housing development for many years on Southfield Road, comprising 
68 affordable homes created following the redevelopment of a derelict former hosiery factory site, 30
of which are council owned. 

481 Food Hygiene Interventions completed.

118 Health and Safety Interventions completed.

770 licenses and permits issued.

776 Pest Control treatments carried out.

Provided a dedicated support to Parishes to enable the development of a Neighbourhood
Development Plan, with 9 currently being progressed across the borough.

1074 planning applications determined.

430 new houses completed in the borough.

Parish & Community Initiative Fund scheme (fund increased).

Page 137



3   Prosperity  

Achievements this year include:
The use of Planning Performance Agreements has ensured that we encourage inward investment
and ensure a customer service focus in the determination of planning applications.

Launch of the North Warwickshire and Hinckley and Bosworth Destination Management Plan  to
promote tourism within the Borough.

Production and launch of Heritage Strategy to preserve and enhance the heritage of the borough.

Delivery of the Annual Rural Conference on 30th November 2017 (to an at venue capacity audience
of 100), to report on progress against our Rural Strategy and underpinning priorities, and facilitate
discussion and debate on emerging rural issues.

Tenants significantly improved their prospects by achieving employment with the Council after
gaining training and experience as volunteers with the Tenant Evaluation Team. 

Crematorium – feasibility study completed successfully and plans now being developed for a new
crematorium to be opened in 2020.

Development of car parks action plan to ensure sufficient capacity for shoppers, workers and
residents.

Successful delivery of Parish and community initiative fund and the Hinckley Community Fund to
support small scale projects across the Borough.  

Barlestone Village Hall, the first Developing Communities Fund project, completed. Five more are
underway.

Increased income generation from trade waste and clean neighbourhood teams  providing excellent
services for businesses and residents in the Borough, and income to keep council tax low.

Procurement of replacement fleet for council in 2018 to ensure fit for purpose services for residents

Quarterly meetings arranged for tenants to feedback on performance and encourage participation.

Replaced 10 Solid fuel heating systems in 'off gas' areas with renewable technologies.

Work with Local Colleges to provide apprenticeships and work placements. Temporary placement
programme in place with North Warwickshire college. HR have met with local colleges regarding
apprenticeships. Will continue this in 2018/19.

Preparation of the Local Plan Review document for public consultation with communities and
stakeholders between Jan and March 2018.

Working in partnership with the Rural Community Council via an SLA to provide a schedule to
dedicated neighbourhood planning support to promote the production of NDPs.

Page 138



Successfully re-let the former Co-op site, retaining retail in Upper Castle Street and access to the
public car park.

Worked with local sports clubs and organisations to attract funding of £689,429 coming into the
borough supporting 15 projects during 2017-18.

Establishment of Employment and Skills taskforce, bringing together key agencies and businesses to
develop local skills needed to support the local economy.

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Overview and Scrutiny
Work Programme

2018-2019

MAY 2018
 

P
age 141

A
genda Item

 15



SCRUTINY COMMISSION

Date Issue Reason Outcomes Lead Officer Supports 
corporate aims

Rural Community Council service 
level agreement

Annual review Monitor performance 
and delivery

Kirstie Rea 2

Rural Strategy – end of year 
progress report

Annual review Monitor performance 
and progress

Edwina Grant All

VCS arrangements – end of  year 
progress report

Annual review Monitor performance 
and progress

Edwina Grant All

Parish & Community Initiative 
Fund

Annual report Recommendations to 
SLB

Caroline 
Roffey

All

Fleet procurement update Request of Commission Awareness of 
processes undertaken

Caroline 
Roffey

3

Environmental Improvement 
Programme

Update on scheme Ensure effective use of 
funding

Stephen 
Meynell

2

Introduction of a Local Authority 
lottery

Scrutiny prior to Council 
decision

Ensure value for money Edwina Grant 1, 3

Directions for growth local plan 
review

Update on local plan 
review and comments 
to consultation

Monitor progress and 
public opinion

Kirstie Rea 1, 2

Annual achievements against the 
Corporate Plan 2017-2021

Annual update Monitor progress 
against plan

Julie Kenny All

Community Safety Partnership Six monthly update Ensure effective 
operation of partnership 
and monitor local 
policing provision

Sharon 
Stacey

1, 2

Communication Strategy Consultation prior to 
approval

Support for strategy Jacqueline 
Puffett

All

Martinshaw Lane and Southfield 
Road housing projects

Request of members Evaluation of project Sharon 
Stacey

All

Planning appeals update Six monthly update Monitor performance in 
relation to planning 
decisions

Nicola Smith 3

19 July 2018

Rate relief schemes Update following 
approval and 

Ensure effective 
application of schemes

Ashley 
Wilson

1, 3

P
age 142



Date Issue Reason Outcomes Lead Officer Supports 
corporate aims

implementation of 
schemes

Air quality management Annual update Monitor air quality in the 
borough

Simon Smith 1, 2

Fly tipping Request of Commission Monitor changes in fly 
tipping

Caroline 
Roffey

2

Living wage Request of Commission Policy review Julie Stay 1, 3

13 September 2018

Universal Credit follow up report Request of Commission 
to receive statistics and 
invite a representative 
of the DWP

Awareness of impact of 
UC

Sharon 
Stacey

1

Planning appeals update Six monthly update Monitor performance in 
relation to planning 
decisions

Nicola Smith 3
8 November 2018

Together for Tenants Update Information 1

January 2019

March 2019

FINANCE & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY

Date Issue Reason Outcomes Lead Officer Supports 
corporate aims

Aged debts quarter 4 2017/18 Monitor levels of debt Ensure recovery 
processes are robust

Ashley 
Wilson

3

Treasury management quarter 4 
2017/18

Inform of treasury 
management activity

Ensure compliance with 
policy

Ashley 
Wilson

3

Revenue & capital outturn 
quarter 4

Monitor budgets and 
capital programme

Ensure effective use of 
resources

Ashley 
Wilson

3

21 May 2018

Housing repairs – balance of Request of F&P Awareness of service M Tuff 1

P
age 143



Date Issue Reason Outcomes Lead Officer Supports 
corporate aims

services HBBC/contractors scrutiny provision
Customer Services review To inform members of 

the outcome of the 
review

Monitoring of 
performance

J Stay All

Performance & risk year end 
2017/18

To monitor 
performance in-year

Identify improvements Cal Bellavia All

Business rates retention quarter 
4 2017/18

Monitor levels of 
retention and pooling 
arrangements

Ensure appropriate 
arrangements and 
value for money

Ashley 
Wilson

3

Aged debts quarter 1 2018/19 Monitor levels of debt Ensure recovery 
processes are robust

Ashley 
Wilson

3

Treasury management quarter 1 
2018/19

Inform of treasury 
management activity

Ensure compliance with 
policy

Ashley 
Wilson

3

16 July 2018

Frontline service review: 
Environmental Health (noise & 
nuisance)

Request of previous 
meeting

Monitor performance S Smith 1, 2

Revenue & capital outturn 
quarter 1 2018/19

Monitor budgets and 
capital programme

Ensure effective use of 
resources

Ashley 
Wilson

3

Performance & risk quarter 1 
2018/19

To monitor 
performance in-year

Identify improvements Cal Bellavia All

Business rates retention quarter 
1 2018/19

Monitor levels of 
retention and pooling 
arrangements

Ensure appropriate 
arrangements and 
value for money

Ashley 
Wilson

3

10 September 2018

Frontline service review – 
housing

Programme of frontline 
service reviews

Monitor performance S Stacey 1

Revenue & capital outturn 
quarter 2 2018/19

Monitor budgets and 
capital programme

Ensure effective use of 
resources

Ashley 
Wilson

All

Aged debts quarter 2 2018/19 Monitor levels of debt Ensure recovery 
processes are robust

Ashley 
Wilson

3

5 November 2018

Business rates retention quarter 
2 2018/19

Monitor levels of 
retention and pooling 
arrangements

Ensure appropriate 
arrangements and 
value for money

Ashley 
Wilson

3

P
age 144



Date Issue Reason Outcomes Lead Officer Supports 
corporate aims

Frontline service review – 
Planning

Programme of frontline 
service reviews

Monitor performance N Smith 2

Budget strategy Regular report Inform members of 
process and timelines

A Wilson 3

January 2019 Leisure Centre performance Annual review Ensure performance 
and value for money

S Jones All

March 2019

To programme

Standard of housing in the borough (SC)

Key to corporate aims
1 – People
2 – Places
3 – Prosperity

P
age 145



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	6 Voluntary and Community Sector Commissioning Outcomes 2016/17
	VCS Commissioning Outcomes Appendix 1
	VCS Commissioning Outcomes Appendix 2
	VCS Commissioning Outcomes Appendix 3

	7 Rural Strategy - Annual Report
	Rural strategy - Annual Statement of Achievements 2017.pdf Final

	8 Introduction of a Local Authority Lottery
	Local authority lottery appendix 1

	9 Annual Review of the Rural Community Council SLA to Support Neighbourhood Planning
	RCC Appendix1
	RCC appendix 2
	RCC appendix 3
	RCC appendix 4

	10 Directions for Growth Local Plan Review - Scope, Issues and Options Consultation Representations and Next Steps
	11 Environmental Improvement Programme for 2018/19
	Environmental Improvements appendix 1
	Environmental improvements appendix 2

	12 Parish and Community Initiative Fund
	13 Procurement of Council Fleet
	FleetProcurementAppendix

	14 Annual Report of Achievements against the Corporate Plan 2017-2021
	Achievements appendix

	15 Scrutiny Commission Work Programme 2016-18



